         11                 In Los Angeles, four years ago they

         12  set in motion a process where people, artists can

         13  display their work in public with having an ID and a

         14  signature on their artwork. This cut out illegal

         15  vending, it cut out bootleg vending, and it gave

         16  more than enough room for artists with no permit

         17  whatsoever.

         18                 The rules and regulations are in

         19  place right now, the definition of art is in place

         20  right now. The identity of artists is in place right

         21  now. We don't need 160, what we do need is a good,

         22  sharp focus on what artists' rights are, on what

         23  artist copyrights are, and to make sure that people

         24  that are selling artwork that is not their own, it

         25  is something that they have the right to do.
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          2                 Once you do that, you will eliminate

          3  the problems with overcrowding, and you'll eliminate

          4  the problems of illegal vending.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Mr. Nilsen.

          6                 MR. NILSEN: Okay. Hi. My name is Mark

          7  Nilsen. I've been making art for years, since 1998

          8  full-time. I became a street artist this summer. I

          9  had the idea to paint the street. I had been

         10  inspired by all the subway covers of Manhattan, all

         11  the sewer covers, the manhole covers, the hundreds

         12  of different designs. So, I did it. I went out one

         13  night with some really simple colors, some red, blue

         14  and black, and I painted about a dozen sewer covers

         15  on canvas. There's one of them right here. And the

         16  next day I woke up, I rolled them up under my arm

         17  and I walked over to the Met. I found an artist that

         18  had already set up there, and I asked him what the

         19  rules were about setting up here.

         20                 I heard a voice behind me saying

         21  well, you can't set up behind me, you've got to have

         22  a table. I turned around and it was Mitchell. He

         23  said, I've got a table in my car, let me go get it.

         24                 So, he went and he got a table, and

         25  he came back, he lent me his table, an extra one he
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          2  had, and he had some flyers of some rules that I

          3  needed to follow as an artist, these I guess were

          4  the vendor rules. He also had some flyers about the

          5  rights I had under the First Amendment.

          6                 Over the next days and weeks, I got

          7  to talk to the other community of street artists up

          8  at the Met, and they told me their stories, their

          9  horror stories and success stories. I got to talk to

         10  them about their art, and they talked to me about my

         11  art, and every night I went home and I made another

         12  sewer painting, and I brought it out and I talked to

         13  the tourists and the New Yorkers that also loved

         14  manhole covers, and I became a better artist, I

         15  tweaked my style. And I felt really good and really

         16  proud about being a street artist.

         17                 The problem that I see with Intro.

         18  160 and the permit system, and I have to speak for

         19  myself here because that's my best point to speak

         20  from, is that it would not work for me. I cannot

         21  paint, since I paint on the street, I cannot paint

         22  when it rains. I cannot paint when it's cold because

         23  the paint freezes. I cannot paint when it's too

         24  windy because I lay the canvas down on the street.

         25  So, the permit system that says I can do it for this
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          2  month, wouldn't work. I have had to stop painting

          3  for awhile, because if I were to paint out there

          4  right now, my paint would freeze, when it dried the

          5  water would have separated out and it would flake

          6  off the canvas. I can't paint when it rains, like I

          7  said before.

          8                 I need to be able to have the

          9  freedom, and I love having the freedom, as a New

         10  York City street artist, to be able to paint the

         11  street, embrace the street and celebrate the street

         12  and express my love for the City that I live in.

         13                 Thank you very much.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Council

         15  Member Gerson.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Chair, Acting.

         18                 Mr. White, first of all, good to see

         19  both of you, and let my colleagues acknowledge that

         20  Larry White has been a voice of reason and civic and

         21  civic advocate in the best sense of the word in our

         22  downtown community.

         23                 MR. WHITE: Thank you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So let me take

         25  the opportunity to thank you.
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          2                 MR. WHITE: Thank you very much.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Let me just

          4  ask you one question.

          5                 Earlier Commissioner Benepe testified

          6  that he would be interested in the establishment of

          7  some ongoing artists committee or body that could

          8  advise, just maybe some extent or not, you know,

          9  self-regulate or advise on self-regulation, the

         10  specific agenda to be determined. But I know this is

         11  an area that you have expressed some interest in, so

         12  in your mind, what type of activities and what type

         13  of agenda could an ongoing arts committee within the

         14  rubric of the Parks Department undertake and

         15  accomplish?

         16                 MR. WHITE: Well, I think one of the

         17  things that it could do would be to continually

         18  redefine artists and art. And also to help maintain

         19  any kind of issues that may come up, resolve any

         20  kind of disputes, also the essence, the copy work,

         21  or people who by and sell art, versus original

         22  artists.

         23                 Original artists are very few in

         24  number, actually. I noticed Robert said earlier that

         25  it's about a 50/50 split. I would dispute that. I
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          2  would say that actually original artists are about

          3  ten percent. But I believe the Commissioner --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Is that ten

          5  percent of art vendors?

          6                 MR. WHITE: That's right. I believe

          7  it's about one out of ten are original artists. I

          8  haven't done any studies, but that's what I see.

          9                 And I think the idea that you came up

         10  with and the Commissioner endorsed there, would

         11  serve the purposes of the artist and the parks

         12  community. Artists are very sensitive to the

         13  environment. I've been an environmentalist my entire

         14  life. The photographs that he showed here really

         15  were disgraceful, and if I had seen the artists

         16  myself leaning their stuff up against the wall, as

         17  Robert had said, I would have gone up and said,

         18  look, this is inappropriate. You're going to bring

         19  the police down here on all of us.

         20                 Our problem is that there is this

         21  confusion as to what is art, who is an artist, who

         22  qualifies for the rights. These things need to be

         23  defined clearly, and then the law has to be applied

         24  in a focused manner.

         25                 In SoHo, for instance, over the last
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          2  four weeks, we haven't had one single illegal vendor

          3  on West Broadway, because the police actually came

          4  in and rooted them out and left the original artists

          5  in place. This was an educated, informed and focused

          6  approach, which has been spectacular in results. The

          7  same thing could happen in the parks, if they're

          8  willing to work with us.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

         10  much.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Are you

         12  advocating that only original artists should be

         13  allowed to set up shop and to carry out their

         14  business?

         15                 MR. WHITE: No, sir. What actually I'm

         16  saying is, original artists, and those who

         17  legitimately hold the legal rights to copyright, but

         18  the First Amendment is not a blanket okay to steal.

         19  As an original artist, I want to be ensured that my

         20  work is being represented by the galleries that I've

         21  signed contracts with, or the people that I have

         22  agreements with. I don't want somebody running my

         23  work through a copy machine, and selling it

         24  willy-nilly, which does happen, and there is

         25  violence that occurs because of this.
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And I'm

          3  sorry, the other artist, your name is John Nilsen?

          4                 MR. NILSEN: Mark Nilsen.

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Mr.

          6  Nilsen, what's your opinion, should the restriction

          7  only be to original artists? Or, for example,

          8  someone that took a picture of your art, purchased

          9  it from you and took a picture of it, a nice color

         10  picture and made 10,000 copies and mass sold

         11  throughout the New York City park system, should

         12  that be allowed to happen?

         13                 MR. NILSEN: Well, that's a really

         14  good question, and my oldest childhood friend

         15  specializes in copyright law, and we've had this

         16  discussion a number of times.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Yes. He

         18  works out of Washington, D.C., but I talk to him

         19  very often and there's all sorts of copyright law

         20  that is in place for this. There's fair use, there

         21  is, you know, artistic use, there is also flat-out

         22  copyright. And I hear a lot of the complaints that

         23  people have voiced, artist or non-artist, for or

         24  against 160, actually is a copyright issue. To

         25  introduce and pass an introduction such as 160 to
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          2  deal with copyright issue seems inappropriate.

          3                 MR. WHITE: Could I make one

          4  additional comment, sir?

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Sure, go

          6  ahead.

          7                 MR. WHITE: In early December I

          8  discovered one of my photographs on page eight of

          9  the Daily News advertising a business. I sued them.

         10  I took them to court. All I needed was my copyright

         11  and my ID, and before we walked into the courtroom,

         12  they signed the check for me.

         13                 This has happened to me before. I've

         14  had my work used internationally, and I've had -- I

         15  worked for Rolling Stone for four years, and I was

         16  with an agency for many years. I have had to

         17  struggle over these copyright issues in the past.

         18  They're really actually quite clearcut, nobody has a

         19  right to use somebody else's work in an unauthorized

         20  manner. And to just allow this to go on and then

         21  further victimize the original artist, to turn

         22  around to an original artist and say, gee, now that

         23  you've been ripped off, we're going to force you to

         24  have a permit. You know, when we're so easily

         25  recognizable and the law is so easy to apply, it
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          2  just seemed totally inappropriate.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Alan

          4  Gerson.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Yes. Just for

          6  clarification, you had testified, Larry, that maybe

          7  50 percent, or actually you had testified I believe

          8  that 90 percent of sellers were not original

          9  artists.

         10                 MR. WHITE: Correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Of that 90

         12  percent, do you have a rough guesstimate as to what

         13  percentage are selling in violation of copyright?

         14                 MR. WHITE: I could not give you a

         15  percentage, but I would tell you it's a large

         16  number. And this is a major issue --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: More than just

         18  an isolated handful?

         19                 MR. WHITE: More than an isolated

         20  handful.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: This is an

         22  endemic problem?

         23                 MR. WHITE: It's an endemic problem,

         24  and it's affected the publishing industry, it's

         25  affected the gallery industry and it's affected
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          2  original artists, to such an extent, like I say,

          3  that violence has erupted over this. I saw a guy

          4  getting, an artist being chased down West Broadway

          5  with a sharp instrument one day by one of these

          6  pirates. And there is no police enforcement. As a

          7  matter of fact, gallery owners, the Caldwell Sandler

          8  Gallery, which is here and in Los Angeles, had an

          9  incident with a gentleman on West Broadway that was

         10  selling one of their original artist's work,

         11  duplicated it, copied their brochure, put it into

         12  mats, signed it and said it was his own work. We

         13  caught him, and we confronted him and we addressed

         14  the police, as a matter of fact we had meetings

         15  about this, and nothing was done.

         16                 Finally what happened was there were

         17  enough artists that surrounded the guy that we were

         18  able to force him to stop. That's not the way the

         19  law should be applied. We cannot be a hanging judge

         20  and jury ourself, we have to have cooperation with

         21  the authorities, and if we work like this, this

         22  problem is solved. If we work together it's solved.

         23  If we work against each other, or if we don't

         24  actually follow the letter of the law, we're going

         25  to be in trouble for years to come.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And just a

          3  final question to Mr. Nilsen. Did I understand your

          4  testimony correctly that your concern with the

          5  permitting process, with a proposed permitting

          6  process, was over your ability to go out and create

          7  your artwork; was that correct?

          8                 MR. NILSEN: No, sir. I could find a

          9  number, possibly ten or 20 instances where a permit

         10  process would have stopped me from my expression as

         11  I outlined it in my story of the genesis of Mark

         12  Nilsen as street artist. I had been standing in line

         13  in food lines on my street in order to have enough

         14  food to eat. In the day that I walked to the

         15  Metropolitan Museum of Art I had 65 cents in my

         16  pocket, I couldn't even afford subway fare. That is

         17  another issue. It's a monetary issue, it's an issue

         18  of time, it's also an issue of space. If someone

         19  gives me that space and I couldn't be there to fill

         20  it, because I did not have the art to sell because I

         21  couldn't make it, I don't know what that would mean,

         22  and there would be also issues of I do not like the

         23  best spot, because I sell in these lesser spots. If

         24  someone were to say that this is the best spot,

         25  therefore, you get it, I might not want that spot
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          2  because of the way the wind hits my art and tends to

          3  blow it over.

          4                 The best spot at the Metropolitan

          5  also is the windiest spot.

          6                 MR. WHITE: Can I have 30 seconds on

          7  this point?

          8                 Right after 9/11, I work with a lot

          9  of dancers, and two dancers that had lost family

         10  members in the World Trade Center and I went down to

         11  Battery Park, photographed them holding the American

         12  flag for a benefit. We were told by the park police

         13  that if we didn't stop shooting, that they would

         14  arrest us all.

         15                 Now, I'm an American veteran. I'm in

         16  Battery Park with the American flag with two young

         17  girls who have lost members of their families in the

         18  World Trade Center and we're about to be arrested

         19  for creating art.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And you were

         21  not selling anything?

         22                 MR. WHITE: I was not selling a thing.

         23  So, these issues get muddied up in the minds of the

         24  people who are forcing them. This is why focus is so

         25  important.
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          2                 Now, we did take that photograph and

          3  I did send you a copy of it. It's an important and

          4  powerful image. You know, there just has to be

          5  clarity in this, and I think when you look at

          6  original artists, clarity is easy.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

          8  much, both of you.

          9                 MR. NILSEN: Thank you, Councilman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

         11  Council Member Gerson.

         12                 Gentlemen, thank you very much for

         13  your time and testimony today. Thank you.

         14                 Our next panel is Robert Dryfoos and

         15  Sean Sweeney.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Mr. Chair, Mr.

         17  Sweeney had to leave because of a medical situation

         18  in his family. He's going to try to come back as

         19  soon as he's able to deal with that situation.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 Instead we will call Warrie Price.

         23  Warrie Price.

         24                 Thank you very much. If you will

         25  please raise your right hand and be sworn in,
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          2  please.

          3                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

          4  affirm to tell the truth?

          5                 MS. PRICE: I do.

          6                 MR. DRYFOOS: I do.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Please state

          8  your name and give your testimony.

          9                 Mr. Dryfoos is being a gentlemen.

         10                 MS. PRICE: Yes.

         11                 Thank you, Bob.

         12                 It's a pleasure to be here today. My

         13  name is Warrie Price, and I serve as the President

         14  of the Battery Conservancy.

         15                 It is a non-profit that was founded

         16  to rebuild and revitalize the old Battery, the

         17  largest public open space downtown, and one that is

         18  visited more per square foot than any other park in

         19  the five boroughs.

         20                 I come here to testify in support of

         21  the bill, Intro. 160 before the City Council,

         22  because it clarifies the general vending law to

         23  regulate unlicensed commercial vending in City

         24  parks. It will restore the authority of the Parks

         25  Commissioner to balance commercial vending with park
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          2  use.

          3                 We have a map of the park as you see

          4  today. We are now hosting the sphere, the eternal

          5  flame. We have been trying to balance a sense of

          6  being able to prepare people for their visitation,

          7  to restore their spirit, to get a sense of what

          8  downtown, how we are surviving down there. But since

          9  then we have, and you will see by the X's and the

         10  circles, a real inundation, 20, 30, sometimes up to

         11  50 vendors. Our pathways which are without anyone

         12  there are quite adequate for the millions of people.

         13  On a summer day, we'll get 15,000, 20,000 a day. We

         14  the new commuter use of Pier A, instead of just

         15  60,000 people, we're adding another 20,000 of people

         16  that walk our perimeters daily. So, the sense of

         17  intense traffic here has never been more apparent.

         18                 We also feel that our pathways, the

         19  people from all over the world that come here,

         20  should really be able to enjoy this park, be able to

         21  pass through and get to the boats in a pleasant way,

         22  and I think everyone when they look out at that

         23  harbor is restored completely by the statute, by the

         24  Ellis Island, by all the icons that really say what

         25  are we as a nation.
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          2                 Gridlock has resulted in many of our

          3  pathways. The movement of emergency vehicles

          4  sometimes is impended, the vendors and the crowds it

          5  draw leave an excessive amount of trash. We are all

          6  trying to keep these 23 acres to look the best we

          7  possibly can.

          8                 It is very important we believe, and

          9  I will always, as many here, will honor the freedom

         10  of expression. That's not what we're talking about.

         11  We're really talking about the freedom of movement

         12  and the freedom of using our parks for what they

         13  were built for.

         14                 Thank you so much for letting us

         15  come. We will continue to work to rebuild. We have

         16  our great partnership with the Parks Department, who

         17  will be in charge of implementing this, but we, as

         18  trying to have the space approved and beautiful,

         19  will need their cooperation and yours in this.

         20                 Thank you so much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you.

         22                 Mr. Dryfoos.

         23                 MR. DRYFOOS: My name is Robert

         24  Dryfoos, and I do. That was the oath.

         25                 I'm a former member of the City
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          2  Council, and as you'll note from Local Law 33, I was

          3  one of the prime sponsors of that law in 1982.

          4                 I shared at that time an honor that

          5  Councilwoman Gale Brewer now has, and that is

          6  actually representing, as the district lines are

          7  drawn, Central Park in my district.

          8                 I want to go on record in favor of

          9  Intro. 160. I want to rattle off for the record, so

         10  that it's in the record, and lend support to the

         11  statements of my colleagues who testified before

         12  certain points and then I want to make a couple of

         13  independent points on my own.

         14                 It's clear that Intro. 160, the

         15  clarification of the Administrative Code, the

         16  clarification of 33, and addition of some words to

         17  clarify what in the judgment of the Commissioner and

         18  the Council members who wrote the law, voted for the

         19  law, was the intent at the time the bill was made,

         20  was introduced and passed. It does not threaten the

         21  First Amendment Rights of artists and other vendors.

         22  It supports, as Council Member Wallace made clear,

         23  it actually supports the right of artists and it

         24  supports the right of free speech, and it does not

         25  impact on commercial activity in the streets.
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          2                 Now, I want to make the following

          3  points, and this is -- institutional memory phase,

          4  and that which we don't like to remember, we clearly

          5  put aside from our minds. But unfortunately, in the

          6  seventies, and in the eighties, the quality of life

          7  in this City was not what it is today. The universal

          8  worldwide appreciation of New York City, of the

          9  boroughs, of Manhattan and of our parks, was not

         10  what it is today. There was a time when the parks,

         11  as a result of the fallout from the fiscal crisis of

         12  '75, were in disarray, maintenance was clearly not

         13  a priority of our City, public safety, as well as

         14  public beauty, was not what the parks were about.

         15                 And then friends of the parks and

         16  this City in every borough, small parks, pocket

         17  parks, large parks, turn these parks around, and

         18  these parks now day-in, day-out on the tongues of

         19  all of us, not just as Council Member Michels has a

         20  place to go to get away from. They are a place to go

         21  to go to, because so many good things happen in the

         22  parks for everyone. The balance is there.

         23                 I am one of the two key sponsors of a

         24  bill that is called public art and art in public

         25  spaces. One percent bill, which required one percent
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          2  of capital spending to create art, whenever a

          3  capital project was built, whether it was a school

          4  or some other place. I hold my credentials on behalf

          5  of parks, and on behalf of artists, and behalf of

          6  art in public arenas, very highly, as do I care

          7  significantly about the first amendment, and I

          8  testified today that I would not have

          9  multi-sponsors, co-sponsors, nor would I have voting

         10  for Intro. 33 in 1982. My name would not be the

         11  first of the prime sponsors, and I would have voted

         12  no. If that part of the bill that gave the

         13  Commissioner the right to regulate was not a part of

         14  it.

         15                 And further, as much as I support and

         16  love all of the testimony that's proceeded about art

         17  and original art, and the copyrights and what is

         18  art, I think you'd be going down a very slippery

         19  slope, if you try to regulate or if you pick up

         20  considering this bill and try to figure out what's

         21  art and what's not art. And, you know, you start to

         22  get into a very subjective and non-neutral job.

         23                 So, thinking about what Councilman

         24  Jackson wisely said, that you should narrow

         25  approach, legislation, and do what is necessary in
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          2  the public interest and not go beyond that, I think

          3  that this amendment to the City Charter would

          4  clarify the law in a very narrow way. It doesn't

          5  speak about artists, by the way, it speaks about

          6  vendors. I read the law, it speaks about regulating

          7  of vendors in a reasonable manner at the time and

          8  place by the Commissioner and the regs.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Mr. Dryfoos.

         10                 MR. DRYFOOS: And then finally, if I

         11  might just complete, a very good question was asked

         12  by Councilman Gerson, I think how can you narrowly

         13  craft, or how can you best craft the language, and

         14  my answer to that is what you are doing so

         15  brilliantly in this City Council and which we fought

         16  for and complained about so much in the past, and

         17  that is the best way is oversight. Pass narrow

         18  legislation, have the Commissioner work with you on

         19  regulation, do oversight on his regulation, and then

         20  do oversight, vigorous oversight on the fair

         21  implementation of the law, and if it's working, keep

         22  it, if it's not, amend it again.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay, Mr.

         24  Dryfoos, I need to do questions from our Committee

         25  members.
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          2                 Alan Gerson.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: First of all,

          4  thank you both very, very much for your ongoing

          5  commitment and examples for doing good for our City.

          6                 Mr. Chair, I would be remiss if in

          7  the context of this hearing I did not acknowledge

          8  the terrific work of Warrie Price in maintaining

          9  Battery Park, not only for my district in Lower

         10  Manhattan but as a jewel for the entire City, and

         11  please keep up your good work.

         12                 Let me just ask you, just to make

         13  sure I'm reading, I'm not a very good map reader, so

         14  just to make sure I'm reading the map correctly, it

         15  appears -- well, is it true that the areas that you

         16  have indicated as problem spots because of the

         17  congestion, the passage-ways and the walkways and

         18  the other spots, all fall within the park proper,

         19  none of those spots are across the streets from the

         20  park or even on the outside.

         21                 MS. PRICE: No, within the park.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: They're all

         23  within the park proper?

         24                 MS. PRICE: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And is it your
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          2  sense that this issue has gotten the congestion? Has

          3  that over the past year or two increased or stayed

          4  the same?

          5                 MS. PRICE: There's been a marked

          6  increase in the last year.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Any reason to

          8  believe that trend is changing, or are we concerned

          9  it will continue?

         10                 MS. PRICE: I think it will continue,

         11  as long as we get the visitation that we get now and

         12  that we will continue to get. There is some use of

         13  the perimeter of the park, as well as the park

         14  interior. So, it is the -- the park interior and

         15  some of the perimeter is also affected.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: When you say

         17  the perimeter --

         18                 MS. PRICE: The park perimeter is.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Do we have the

         20  portable mic handy, Sergeants?

         21                 MS. PRICE: All these exits going

         22  along State Street, this is where 60,000 Staten

         23  Islanders a day would walk.

         24                 As you would start here, you would

         25  leave the Staten Island Ferry building and coming
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          2  along State Street.

          3                 Wherever you see the x's along is

          4  where we have intense congestion by the tables and

          5  the vendors. Also at the entrance. This is Broadway

          6  coming down where State Street meets Battery Place.

          7                 These are your main entrances into

          8  the park. Right here is the Bowling Green Station.

          9                 You had a lot of people coming out,

         10  whether coming to work, going home, are visiting the

         11  park in the cultural institutions downtown.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: As I recall, a

         13  lot of those vendors are lined up along the

         14  entranceways as the outer end, but they're on the

         15  entranceways that go into the park; isn't that

         16  correct?

         17                 MS. PRICE: That's correct.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay, so

         19  that's a State Street issue. Thank you very much.

         20                 MS. PRICE: You're welcome.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

         22  Council Member Gerson.

         23                 Council Member Jackson.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: The x's, does

         25  that indicate one vendor or it's just the multitude
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          2  of vendors? Because I was trying to count the x's,

          3  you know, at a certain location.

          4                 MS. PRICE: I think they represent

          5  about, what, four or five --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Each X?

          7                 MS. PRICE: No, one. Multiplicity,

          8  right? These are individual ones, okay.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes. Because

         10  the bottom circle, there's about, I guess 15 or so.

         11                 MS. PRICE: That's right. They're

         12  individual, each X is one table.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And the

         14  pictures here, I assume they were taken in the

         15  summertime.

         16                 MS. PRICE: That's correct.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And what's

         18  inside the park.

         19                 MS. PRICE: This is within the

         20  interior.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Now, based on

         22  what the Commissioner had testified earlier, and

         23  also one of the advocates, Mr. Murray, I think his

         24  name is, Maud? What's his name? Mitchell. Yes,

         25  Mitchell. It appears as though that these vendors,
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          2  as far as the amount of height and all of that stuff

          3  appear to be violating the regulations; do you have

          4  any opinion on that? Do you know what the

          5  regulations are as far as table size, and what have

          6  you?

          7                 Eight by five by three.

          8                 MS. PRICE: The regulations are

          9  promulgated by the Parks Department, not by us.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Who is

         11  enforcing the regulation?

         12                 MS. PRICE: No, we do not enforce

         13  regulations. We are a 501(c)(3) non-profit.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         15                 MS. PRICE: What we do is we bring

         16  public, as we really bring private initiative,

         17  private funding to improve the park, and I'm here to

         18  say that we have worked very well with Council

         19  Member Gerson, with the City Council, and to bring

         20  new improvements, capital improvements, the flowers,

         21  the new promenade, but we are in no way an

         22  enforcement body.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Just for

         25  clarification, would it be easy for you to point out
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          2  to the Committee where those two photographs fall

          3  out on the map, which x's represent those?

          4                 MS. PRICE: This is this circle.

          5  Because you can see the garden, see the daffodils

          6  there? So this is this circle.

          7                 This is the pathway along here.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That's very

         10  helpful.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And what

         12  about that one over there?

         13                 MS. PRICE: That one was also part of

         14  this.

         15                 Now, most of the disembarking from

         16  the boats are right here at gangway five and gangway

         17  four.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Again, thank

         19  you very much.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Now, Mr.

         21  Dryfoos, you said you were an original prime sponsor

         22  of the legislation and that if this was violating

         23  someone's right at that time, you would not have

         24  signed --

         25                 MR. DRYFOOS: No, that's not what I
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          2  said. I said if the legislation, as it's before you,

          3  and was enacted, did not contain the section which

          4  gave, it's Section B32510.1 503.0 which gave the

          5  exception, and provided the exception that gave the

          6  Commissioner of Parks the right to regulate, I would

          7  not have voted for it. It was that regulation which

          8  was not upheld and which required now a

          9  clarification.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: You were a

         11  former Council Member, correct?

         12                 MR. DRYFOOS: Correct.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Put yourself

         14  in my position, you take my place for a moment.

         15  Knowing what you've heard here today, and hearing

         16  all of the artists talking about constitutional

         17  rights being violated, and all of the court

         18  litigation and everything, and you're an attorney

         19  also; is that correct?

         20                 MR. DRYFOOS: That's correct.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Did you feel

         22  that the rights of the individuals that are here to

         23  testify against Intro. 160, their constitutional

         24  rights are being guaranteed by putting in a system

         25  of, a lottery system in order to bring about some
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          2  order so you won't have the situations that are

          3  displayed in these photographs?

          4                 MR. DRYFOOS: I do. I listened to my

          5  colleague, who happens to be an extraordinarily fine

          6  lawyer himself, Ed Wallace, who answered your

          7  question, you didn't directly ask him it the same

          8  way, but answered the question that it was

          9  constitutional, that he believed this was

         10  constitutional and was not a violation of the rights

         11  of artists or anyone else who want to sell in the

         12  parks.

         13                 I do believe it's a violation, as I

         14  understand the right of free speech, and as I

         15  understand the right of First Amendment, so long as

         16  you're not dealing with content, as long as you're

         17  dealing with a place and a time and a number for the

         18  public health and safety that it would be

         19  constitutional. I can't put myself in your place

         20  because we each hear with different ears and we see

         21  with different eyes and we read with different

         22  interpretations and then we each have our own

         23  political objectivity and subjectivity.

         24                 However, if you're asking me as a

         25  lawyer, and where I could be a judge, I would say
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          2  that the language being proposed would not be a

          3  violation of the civil or First Amendment Rights of

          4  those who are testifying in opposition today.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

          7  Council Member Jackson.

          8                 Council Member Brewer.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Nice to see

         10  you, Warrie.

         11                 The question is, do you ever call

         12  Parks to enforce? I mean, that might be a role, I

         13  know that you can do it, or do you ever see the

         14  artists themselves self-enforcing, because I have

         15  been on your wonderful park and it is extremely

         16  crowded with vendors.

         17                 MS. PRICE: Certainly we view an

         18  illegal act where the Parks Department certainly has

         19  jurisdiction, we will call the PEP officers if

         20  they're not there. So, we will ask them to come in

         21  if there is certainly a problem that they can and

         22  that they have the power to enforce.

         23                 Have I seen self-enforcement? No. Of

         24  the artists that are there now? No.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, thank
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          2  you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

          4  Council Member Brewer, I want to thank both of you

          5  for your time and testimony today, and I appreciate

          6  your patience as well. Thank you.

          7                 MR. DRYFOOS: Thank you very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you.

          9                 Our next panel is Mike Donovan, Dan

         10  Rossi, and Christina Hassinger.

         11                 Thank you very much. Please raise

         12  your hand for sworn testimony.

         13                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

         14  affirm to tell the truth?

         15                 (Witnesses sworn.)

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Please state

         17  your name and give your testimony.

         18                 MR. DONOVAN: Mike Donovan, I'm with

         19  Local 169B of the vendors union, and that's Unite.

         20                 We stand in support of the artists

         21  who are opposed to Intro. 160. And one of the

         22  reasons that we are is we've seen with the food

         23  vendors, mostly of the folks we've been working

         24  with, that once permitted, the City also has the

         25  right to regulate, and it seems as though throughout
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          2  the City when someone has the right to regulate,

          3  they regulate like crazy.

          4                 The vendors themselves, the food

          5  vendors, fall under at least nine City agencies, the

          6  Consumer Affairs, Business Services, Health

          7  Department, Transportation, Building, Sanitation,

          8  Police, Fire, Parks, in addition to that, BIDs all

          9  seem to have a hand in how the vendors do business.

         10                 With regard to the artists as well,

         11  I've been through the parks on a number of

         12  instances, and I'll tell you, the question of safety

         13  in the park has been brought up a number of times by

         14  a number of different speakers, and I am more apt to

         15  get run over by a bicycle, wacked by a jogger, than

         16  I am to be hurt at all by being sketched to death.

         17  So, with regard to that, that issue to me is

         18  nonsense.

         19                 Additionally, the inconsistencies

         20  that Mr. Gerson had talked about earlier on today

         21  would be massive I think with regard to the artists.

         22  The inconsistencies already with the food vendors

         23  are terrible, it's tragic, these folks are working

         24  people, and this City doesn't seem to give any

         25  credence to their -- their need to be on the street,
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          2  okay? That's where they make their living.

          3                 Also, going back to the regulation

          4  part, if you start regulating the artists by

          5  permitting, first by permitting, we've had an

          6  instance in this City where a petulant Mayor has

          7  come down very hard on, particularly Mr. Lederman, I

          8  know his history, and now that he's got a permit, if

          9  the permit is in fact what the City intends to do,

         10  it becomes, as I understand this from my different

         11  discussions with the City agencies, the City owns

         12  the permit, and owning that permit gives them a lot

         13  of leeway to say what they want, or do what they

         14  want to do to you as an individual, and I've seen

         15  this with the food vendors where they're harassed on

         16  the street, they're pushed off, their carts are

         17  taken. The same thing has happened, can happen to

         18  the artists, and once you're off the street, and if

         19  you remember Mr. White and Mr. Lederman, both

         20  speaking about their financial situation, it's very,

         21  very, very difficult. Once off the street you're

         22  losing money, and you don't have a chance to make

         23  that up. You're paying City fines that sometimes are

         24  out of hand. And another instance, too, once in the

         25  process of being regulated, the Department of Parks
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          2  says that it will not legislate content. But who's

          3  to say that the Arts Commissioner or another

          4  politician, Mayor who comes in, will not regulate

          5  the content of what's in the art?

          6                 The last Mayor went after the

          7  Brooklyn Museum, over the content, a blasphemous

          8  piece of art he claimed at the Brooklyn Museum.

          9  There is also issues of what people call orotic art

         10  or political art, okay, all of these, once you are

         11  permitted as an artist, what is to say the City will

         12  not take that away because you're violating some

         13  standard that maybe you don't even know about as an

         14  artist.

         15                 Additionally, I just want to add one

         16  more point. The Commissioner originally said that

         17  there would be no enforcement of these streets

         18  across the street from the parks. I find that very

         19  hard to believe, because if the artists do end up in

         20  the streets, across from the park, like the vendors

         21  across from the park, you're going to have the

         22  building owners up and down Fifth Avenue and across

         23  from any park, howling, as well as the tenants, to

         24  throw them off, and it will be the Parks Department

         25  that ends up enforcing that regulation. So, I find
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          2  that a little bit ridiculous.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Ms. Hassinger.

          5                 MS. HASSINGER: I just basically want

          6  to reiterate a lot of things that Mike said, but I

          7  don't have to do that.

          8                 I want to speak to the point of the

          9  fear of privatization coming out of the permitting

         10  now, or the potential permitting of artists and

         11  vendors that are protected now in parks, basically

         12  what Mike said and what we found in the food vending

         13  industry we believe will stand true here, once you

         14  issue the permits there becomes the fear of

         15  regulation and then over regulation because nobody

         16  knows quite what jurisdiction they're under or what

         17  to do with them, and really sometimes it's being

         18  said in the food industry now that it's such a swap

         19  at this point, what do we do, and the idea of

         20  selling permits to the highest bidder is being

         21  batted around on the streets of New York.

         22                 The example that Robert Lederman gave

         23  about the Wendy's now operating a kiosk in the park,

         24  that's also a valid point. So, once you open the

         25  doors to letting all these agencies pretty much have
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          2  free reign over the permitting structure of artists

          3  and vendors inside the parks, it's going to become

          4  the same disaster that nobody wants to touch now

          5  with the food vendors, and there is really no reason

          6  to open that door when you don't really have to,

          7  when the congestion may be in the summer in high

          8  tourist areas, yes, okay, I could see it, but really

          9  the extent that a lot of people are talking about is

         10  a myth, it's just not there. And the fear of artists

         11  becoming concessionaires is very much there at the

         12  same time, it's been done with the book vendors, the

         13  newspaper kiosk may be fended off for awhile, but

         14  the belief by many that the City will try it again

         15  is really in the back of vendors' minds, and what

         16  Mike said is true, they are small business people,

         17  and they don't really have representation at the

         18  point where anybody will understand, oh, you're on

         19  the street, you're trying to make a living, you

         20  know, and their point of view isn't really out there

         21  like that.

         22                 So, I mean, I guess really that's

         23  what I want to say, that, you know, once you open up

         24  the door for permits you open up the door for

         25  amending the structure whereby they have to bid
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          2  $65,000 to hold the permits, to hold specific spots,

          3  and I think a lot of people here today, including

          4  us, don't want to see that happen.

          5                 MR. ROSSI: Good afternoon. My name is

          6  Dan Rossi. I'm an advocate for vendors, I've been

          7  doing this for a long time. I'm the only person in

          8  New York City that's considered an expert by this

          9  Administration. So, I'm going to tell you the

         10  reasons why we have a problem, then I'm going to

         11  tell you the solution to the problem. I've been to

         12  these hearings for so long, and I've heard the same

         13  thing for so many years, that this is all, I've

         14  heard it so many times. In my view, permitting

         15  artists is a First Amendment problem. There's no

         16  question about it. It isn't a question if the man is

         17  going out there to work, it's a question of once you

         18  permit them, it isn't regulating the artist, it's

         19  manipulating the artist. And I can just give you

         20  examples of manipulations over the last few years.

         21                 In 1995, a law was passed that no one

         22  would get more than one food vending permit in the

         23  park. That law only applies to me and my family. If

         24  you were politically connected, you got as many

         25  permits from Commissioner Stern as you wanted, I had
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          2  to take this City to court, and after three years

          3  the courts agreed that no one in the parks was to

          4  get more than one permit.

          5                 The City manipulated as to who they

          6  wanted to have these permits. After three years in

          7  court, the City simply, the City Council simply just

          8  changed the law, with a one paragraph line, allowing

          9  multiple permit ownership in the park.

         10                 The Councilman who sponsored the law

         11  did it because his chief of staff had accumulated

         12  permits illegally in two companies. So, to tell me

         13  that you're not going to manipulate an artist's

         14  permit, you're telling the wrong guy that.

         15                 Another example of manipulation is

         16  the veterans. In this City right now there are 455

         17  disabled American veterans who are allowed to sell

         18  merchandise on the street, but the BIDs have

         19  manipulated the City Council and the Assembly to

         20  allow only 60 disabled veterans to work in Midtown

         21  Manhattan, now, I helped to write this law when it

         22  first came out, and what I had suggested that only

         23  one veteran be allowed to work on each block face.

         24                 Now, they adopted that, but there

         25  were over 900 block faces, and only 60 veterans are
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          2  allowed to work in 900 block faces. The fact that

          3  you put one veteran on a block face already

          4  establishes how many can be there. The fact is you

          5  have a seniority process where number five can be

          6  here and not number six. That already regulates it.

          7  But to go further and say that only 60 could be in

          8  an area over 900 locations, is ridiculous. And those

          9  permits are lifetime permits, meaning that at any

         10  given time there are only six to ten veterans

         11  working in Midtown Manhattan. A guy could be dead

         12  for ten years and no one would know to give that

         13  permit to the next guy.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: If you would

         15  just summarize, Mr. Rossi.

         16                 MR. ROSSI: Okay. Well, to go further

         17  I'd like to say why there's a problem right now.

         18                 The problem that is occurring in the

         19  parks is the same problem in the streets.

         20                 In 1995, they created Local Law 14,

         21  which was a street vendor review panel. Over 500

         22  streets were closed, not only to food vendors, but

         23  to artists. Now, I've met with Commissioner Walsh

         24  from the Department of Business Services, and I

         25  asked him to reopen the Committee so that we can
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          2  hear our petitions that have been sitting on top of

          3  the shelf for three years, and he told me that Local

          4  Law 14 doesn't work, that when he took office, when

          5  he took position, he sat down with the panel and

          6  asked him, how did you determine a street should be

          7  closed. And they said we don't know. The truth of

          8  the matter is, the Administration told them what to

          9  close and they closed it.

         10                 So, the reason you have a

         11  proliferation of a few artists in the corner, is

         12  because you close 500 streets. Open the streets.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay, questions.

         14                 Council Member Jackson.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: This is for

         16  the representative representing Unite. Sir, you

         17  represent, did you say street vendors?

         18                 MR. DONOVAN:  We've been working on a

         19  campaign to organize the food vendors throughout the

         20  City of New York right now.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: The food

         22  vendors?

         23                 MR. DONOVAN: Food vendors right now,

         24  yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So this does
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          2  not relate, this subject, these are artists --

          3                 MR. DONOVAN: Charter is for all

          4  vendors, right now we're concentrating on street

          5  vendors.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

          7                 I was going to ask you, so you don't

          8  have any members of --

          9                 MR. DONOVAN: We've got people signed

         10  up, yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: The food

         12  vendors or all vendors?

         13                 MR. DONOVAN: Food vendors.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Is the union

         15  advising them and giving them counsel to pursue this

         16  particular matter here? Or do they have their own

         17  organizational structure with Mr. Lederman?

         18                 MR. DONOVAN: Mr. Lederman represents

         19  a group called ARTIST, which is basically artist

         20  vendors, and we're concentrating mainly on the food

         21  vendors, and, yes, they know we're here, and, yes,

         22  they support us being here.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So, are you

         24  here to talk about the fact that you feel that this

         25  violates their rights, or a constitutional issue?
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          2                 MR. DONOVAN: I believe it's a

          3  constitutional issue. Basically it is a free speech

          4  issue, not necessarily in the same way that the

          5  other speakers have spoken to it, just watching how

          6  the City issues permits. And the things that I've

          7  heard about the permit structure in New York.

          8  Recently just before the Department of Health

          9  hearing, at a Department of Health hearing, the

         10  Counsel for the Department of Health claimed the

         11  City owns the permits, and in owning the permit they

         12  can withdraw it at their own beck and call, will, I

         13  guess you can call it.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: You were here

         15  during the testimony of Commissioner Benepe?

         16                 MR. DONOVAN: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And you heard

         18  basically what he said that in his opinion this

         19  would be phase one and phase two would be to get a

         20  group of people together, including the artists and

         21  other concerned people to come up with a system that

         22  was fair and to the best, you know?

         23                 MR. DONOVAN: I think it would be a

         24  great idea if they did that. Right now they're

         25  having, from what we understand, the City is going
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          2  through a change, vis-a-vis, at least the food

          3  vendors, under the Consumer Affairs Department, and

          4  we have met with Commissioner Dykstra and still

          5  nothing has been done on this, and we expect

          6  something to come down the pike. But the way it's

          7  going on now, it's been so long in coming that the

          8  fear on the street is such that the folks don't know

          9  what's going to happen.

         10                 Additionally, what happens inside the

         11  different departments that have been regulating, at

         12  least the food vendors, in which will happen with

         13  the permitted artists, as well, is that each

         14  Department has the right to set its own regulations

         15  and rules, and they can have a hearing, which they

         16  recently did at the Department of Health.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Right. Well,

         18  we're referring only to the Parks Department for

         19  these artists.

         20                 MR. DONOVAN: Okay, that's fine.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I'm not

         22  really talking about the food vendors, which you

         23  said nine different agencies regulate them.

         24                 MR. DONOVAN: At least.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: How do you
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          2  feel about what the Commissioner said as far as

          3  phase 2 coming together as a whole to come up with a

          4  system that's workable?

          5                 MR. DONOVAN: I think any chance that

          6  people have for input is good, and I've heard a lot

          7  of good ideas out of the artists today, and I mean

          8  we've had ideas on this ourselves going on over the

          9  last couple of years. Yes, any meeting with the

         10  Commissioner would be fine, and I think something

         11  can be worked out.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: But I think

         13  all of you expressed a certain amount of fear that

         14  whatever system is going to come up would be very,

         15  very subjective and not, you know, one that's

         16  subject to change.

         17                 MR. DONOVAN: Well, I fear with the

         18  permitting system on the artists, it's already there

         19  with the food vendors, they're already screwed, and

         20  I see it every day. If this happens, if the artists

         21  get permitted, then like I said, then the City owns

         22  the permit and then they own the artist.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay, thank

         24  you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,
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          2  Council Member Jackson.

          3                 Do we all agree that there's been an

          4  increase in vendors? Predominantly maybe even since

          5  9/11, but do we all agree that there has been an

          6  increase in our park areas?

          7                 MR. DONOVAN: I visit the park areas

          8  quite regularly and I don't see it, to tell you the

          9  truth. If I do go to that area where they're

         10  vending, and I know the areas that they are vending,

         11  I go there for a reason, and I go there to see the

         12  art perhaps --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: You have not

         14  seen an increase in vendors?

         15                 MR. DONOVAN: I haven't noticed it,

         16  no.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay. Okay.

         18                 I want to thank you very much for

         19  your time and testimony.

         20                 MR. ROSSI: There's one point that I

         21  could bring out.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: One quick point.

         23                 MR. ROSSI: One quick one.

         24                 What this Committee has done is

         25  already assuming that there's congestion, but when
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          2  you talk congestion, you have to talk congestion

          3  about pedestrian traffic, not 20 artists lined up on

          4  a corner. And if you're going to count, this is

          5  something that can be physically counted by the

          6  Department of Transportation. So, if you only have a

          7  few locations that are congested, as you think, have

          8  the Department of Transportation go down, use their

          9  formula for congestion of pedestrian traffic, and

         10  find out if in fact those few places are congested

         11  and then deal with them.

         12                 But to just assume that they're

         13  congested, that's --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: One line of

         15  correction. This Committee has not assumed anything.

         16                 The questioning along both panels for

         17  pro and con of 160 has been along the general lines

         18  of, in their opinion, do you think there has been an

         19  increase. So, this Committee has not taken any

         20  position, or assumed anything.

         21                 MR. ROSSI: Well, what you're saying,

         22  an increase in vendors; what has that got to do with

         23  creating a health and safety problem if there is not

         24  a pedestrian problem?

         25                 It's the pedestrians you have to
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          2  protect. If they're not there, what are you talking

          3  about. This is the same thing you did to the food

          4  vendors, and you created tremendous hardships on

          5  food vendors because there was no guidelines as to

          6  what congestion is, when the Department of

          7  Transportation, in two seconds they could tell you

          8  if a street is congested or not.

          9                 So, you do that first, then come back

         10  here, and say this is what we're going to do on

         11  these streets. That's what you do. But you've

         12  already gone the other way.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: No, no, no. If

         14  it has been determined that there has been an

         15  increase in vendors and they have congregated around

         16  the entranceway, and that's something for this

         17  Committee to find out and determine, then that may

         18  be something as a factor in determining the fate of

         19  160.

         20                 MR. ROSSI: But then you didn't

         21  understand what I said.

         22                 Congestion is the results of

         23  pedestrian traffic, not food, not vendors. If there

         24  are no people there then no one can get hurt. Then

         25  there's not a safety concern.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  That's not

          3  necessarily so, though.

          4                 MR. ROSSI: First establish that the

          5  people --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: That's not

          7  necessarily so. Congestion could be from anything,

          8  could be congestion of pigeons, you know, with a

          9  couple of hundred pigeons in the area. It could be

         10  congestion with vendors, it could be congestion --

         11                 MR. ROSSI: I'm glad you brought up

         12  pigeons, we had that at Bryant Park, they poisoned

         13  all the pigeons. What are we talking about here?

         14  We're talking about congestion.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  No, but also

         16  --

         17                 MR. ROSSI: We're talking about

         18  legitimate reasons to close streets to artists, and

         19  that could only come from --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  No. But also

         21  you said that artists don't bring about the

         22  congestion, and that's not true either. That's not

         23  true either.

         24                 MR. ROSSI: I said the safety

         25  concerns.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Gentlemen.

          3  Gentlemen. Gentlemen. A little order here.

          4                 MR. ROSSI: A safety concern only can

          5  come if there's pedestrians on the street.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: That's not

          7  true.

          8                 MR. ROSSI: Then where is the concern

          9  if there's no pedestrians?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: The safety

         11  concern, if the entire walkway is congested with

         12  artists, with material --

         13                 MR. ROSSI: If there's no pedestrians,

         14  there's no business, there's no artists. So, what

         15  are you saying?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: No, no.

         17  That's different.

         18                 If the artists are there because the

         19  traffic of people are there, and the artists are

         20  there, there's congestion. And the pictures speak

         21  for themselves. Whether or not it was a snapshot and

         22  one second in time, but there were many --

         23                 MR. ROSSI: Councilman, I didn't mean

         24  to upset you. But I looked at the picture there were

         25  no people on the street.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: When you tell

          3  me --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Gentlemen.

          5  Gentlemen.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: When you tell

          7  me that there's no congestion --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Final point.

          9  Robert, final point.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: There is

         11  congestion.

         12                 MR. ROSSI: Well, that's something

         13  that's got to be considered by the Department of

         14  Transportation, not by you --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: No, that's

         16  not true. That's not true.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Final point.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: That's not

         19  true. You think the Department of Transportation is

         20  the one who determines congestion?

         21                 MR. ROSSI: Yes, they do. Every day.

         22  They do it every day.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: You mean the

         24  people of New York do not determine what congestion

         25  is?
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          2                 MR. ROSSI: No, the Department of

          3  Transportation determines what congestion is,

          4  because it's physically counted.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Who's going

          6  to determine whether or not there's an excessive

          7  amount of vendors in a location? Department of

          8  Transportation?

          9                 MR. ROSSI: No, the laws control how

         10  many vendors could be on a certain area.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: What law?

         12                 MR. ROSSI: Article 8909, all the

         13  general vendor laws. That's what the problem is

         14  here. You don't understand the laws that exist now,

         15  and you want to throw more laws on top of what

         16  already exists. That's always been the problem with

         17  the Council.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: One final point

         19  and then we're going to have a new panel.

         20                 MR. ROSSI: The final point is,

         21  listen, I'm all for safety of people. But let's not

         22  assume that there's a problem until we actually go

         23  out there.

         24                 I've done this. I've done it for the

         25  Commissioner of Consumer Affairs. I went out and I
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          2  physically counted every vendor in Midtown Manhattan

          3  for her. And I used that against charts that we did

          4  year and year and year ago, and she came up with the

          5  same reason for congestion as I.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay.

          7                 MR. ROSSI: The City illegally closed

          8  down hundreds of streets to vendors, that's why we

          9  have problems in certain areas right now.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you.

         11                 MR. ROSSI: It's that simple.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, Mr.

         13  Rossi. Thank you, panel.

         14                 Let me make it clear that this

         15  Committee has not assumed anything with 160 or with

         16  the conditions of our parks.

         17                 Our next panel will be William B.

         18  Micke; Christian DiPalermo, and Adam Honigman.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Mr. Chair, as

         20  these witnesses take their seats, may I be

         21  recognized for a point of personal privilege?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I just want to

         24  announce, Mr. Chair, to yourself and to your

         25  colleague, that we are joined in Chambers at this
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          2  moment by a very distinguished guest. I'd like to

          3  introduce Mr. Kwan Wing Yip (phonetic), who is

          4  visiting. He is a member of the City Council of Hong

          5  Kong and we're privileged to have us join him here

          6  in City Hall and observe these very interesting

          7  procedures.

          8                 Mr. Wing Yip, if you would come

          9  forward and just be introduced. Thank you very much.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         11  much.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Mr. Wing Yip

         13  has the distinction of serving of the youngest

         14  member of the City Council of Hong Kong, and we

         15  welcome you to City Hall.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you. Thank

         17  you very much for being here.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

         19  much, Mr. Chair. And I will rejoin you shortly. I

         20  need to be excused just for a few moments.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

         22  Council Member Gerson.

         23                 Having been joined by Mr. William E.

         24  Micke, gentlemen, thank you very much. Please raise

         25  your right hand and be sworn in for testimony.
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          2                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

          3  affirm to tell the truth?

          4                 MR. DePALMERO: Yes, absolutely.

          5                 (Witnesses sworn.)

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Please state

          7  your name and give your testimony.

          8                 MR. DePALMERO: Christian DePalermo,

          9  from New Yorkers for Parks. I was going to start by

         10  saying good afternoon, but I guess I could start by

         11  saying good evening.

         12                 My name is Christian DePalermo, and I

         13  am Executive Director of New Yorkers for Parks, a

         14  non-profit Citywide advocate for the millions of New

         15  Yorkers and their parks.

         16                 At New Yorkers for Parks, we strive

         17  to ensure that every neighborhood has high quality

         18  park and recreation services. I want to thank you,

         19  Mr. Chairman, and the other Committee members, for

         20  holding this hearing on Intro. 160, a bill that

         21  would empower the Commissioner of Parks and

         22  Recreation, to regulate the vending of written

         23  material, including art, within the geographical

         24  areas under the jurisdiction of parks.

         25                 New Yorkers for Parks strongly
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          2  advocates for safe, well programmed, and maintained

          3  parks, in every community. To achieve this goal, we

          4  must have a well funded and managed Department of

          5  Parks and Recreation.

          6                 To that end, effective management

          7  requires that the Commissioner have authority to

          8  coordinate all activities within the park.

          9                 Parks and art have always had a

         10  natural relationship. Parks are often the subject of

         11  artwork and a forum for artists. The DPR sculpture

         12  collection, for example, comprises the largest

         13  outdoor public art "museum" in the nation. However,

         14  there are concerns that unregulated vending of art

         15  has led to the over-commercialization of congestion

         16  of our parks. Some believe that the overcrowding of

         17  vendors in park areas, especially at areas to the

         18  high profile Manhattan parks, may be creating an

         19  obstacle for those trying to use their parks for

         20  recreation and reflection.

         21                 Intro. 160 would regulate the vending

         22  system, and reduce negative impacts on our parkland.

         23  However, the City must listen to the valid concerns

         24  of civil liberties and art advocacy organizations,

         25  that fear that the implementation of Intro. 160
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          2  could lead to the suppression of artistic expression

          3  and a violation of the First Amendment.

          4                 The City must involve these

          5  interested parties to ensure that government action

          6  is in accordance with the First Amendment.

          7                 A good first step might be to

          8  implement a lottery system that is content neutral

          9  and focuses on the preservation of park land and the

         10  enjoyment of park users.

         11                 The application process should be

         12  transparent and fees should be minimal.

         13                 In addition, New Yorkers for Parks

         14  believes that the legislation should be amended

         15  limiting the permit requirements to only those

         16  vendors within a park boundary.

         17                 The current legislation, Intro. 160,

         18  applies to all geographic areas under DPI's

         19  jurisdiction. In some cases this includes sidewalks

         20  across the street from parks.

         21                 In sum, New Yorkers for Parks

         22  supports Intro. 160, allowing the Commissioner to

         23  regulate the time, place and manner of vending

         24  within a park.

         25                 New Yorkers for Parks is available to
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          2  assist the City Council and the DPR in negotiating

          3  this difficult but important issue.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 MR. HONIGMAN: Well, again, good

          6  evening, honorable ladies and gentlemen of this

          7  Committee. I see Commissioner Benepe has left, but

          8  representatives of Parks Department, artists,

          9  greening advocates and not least the citizen park

         10  volunteers, partnerships for parks, and parks

         11  community gardeners, I'm talking about the people

         12  who actually go out and get their hands dirty,

         13  plant, plant tulips, plant daffodils. Remember that

         14  was a million daffodils that went out there, 1,000

         15  came out of my hands and my back. So, that's me,

         16  okay? I bring you greetings from the Clinton

         17  Community Garden, a volunteer and maintained New

         18  York City Parks property on a third of an acre in

         19  the heart of Hell's Kitchen.

         20                 Founded in 1978, we were the first

         21  community garden to be transferred to Parks in 1986.

         22  With over 4,000 keyholders. That means you live in

         23  the neighborhood, you have a key, you can get in

         24  there, and that's 365 days a year.

         25                 The garden serves a catchment area
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          2  between 34th and 59th Street, from Eighth Avenue to

          3  the Hudson River.

          4                 This City-owned property was leased

          5  through Operation Green Thumb in 1979, and was

          6  organized into two sections, a public front garden

          7  with lawn and flower beds, and a rear garden for

          8  individual flower and vegetable plots. And we also

          9  feed hungry people.

         10                 We say it's like Bryant Park, run

         11  like a volunteer firehouse. Another view is that of

         12  former Parks Commissioner Henry Stern who called the

         13  Clinton Community garden "the epitome of what a

         14  community garden can and should be."

         15                 Now, this community was founded by

         16  artists, founded by Broadway theatrical painter and

         17  dresser Malary Abramson and other artists.

         18                 Our keyholder list includes hundreds

         19  of performing of graphic artists drawn from

         20  Manhattan Plaza and all over Hell's Kitchen. The

         21  membership of the Clinton Community Garden has

         22  sponsored hundreds of dance recitals, performing

         23  arts events, and nature photography and botanical

         24  drawing sections over the last decade, while keeping

         25  true to our central mission of providing desperately
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          2  needed, open, greenspace in our park-starved

          3  neighborhood.

          4                 For your information, our steering

          5  committee has a Broadway actress as a chair, an

          6  organist composer, two graphic artists, a rock

          7  performer and me, I'm an amateur chamber musician on

          8  it.

          9                 We live for art when we're not

         10  scrambling to make a living. We are also artists who

         11  care passionately about parks and care about

         12  improving them, not making a fast buck off of them.

         13  But, and this is very important, and why I'm

         14  testifying here today. Key to maintaining any public

         15  facility is the right to protect the space, maintain

         16  access for open space activities, and make sure that

         17  there is a balance in programming.

         18                 To be frank with you, after hauling

         19  out tons of rubble, getting rid of the drug dealers,

         20  muggers and whores with pitchforks and bricks. The

         21  idea that any non-sales tax paying opportunist, with

         22  a stack of cheap tourist photos, especially those

         23  shameful 9/11 things that are all over the City, who

         24  calls him or herself an artist, could set up shop in

         25  our little slice of Heaven, or any of this City's
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          2  precious public greenspaces at will, is absolutely

          3  shameful.

          4                 Understand hotdog vendors have to be

          5  licensed and contribute to park spaces where they

          6  make a living, with parks budgets at less than

          7  four-tenths of one percent of the City's budget,

          8  which is a scandal, how could it be otherwise? And

          9  food vendors have to be spaced at reasonable

         10  intervals. We want poets walk in Central Park, not

         11  hotdog alley.

         12                 Walking home from synagogue or the

         13  Met Museum on the east side Manhattan, I've got to

         14  tell you, you could trip over yourself with all the

         15  cheapie photo and portrait stands that crap up the

         16  sidewalk every couple of yards. And let's be honest,

         17  what they're selling is not comparable with what you

         18  see on Montmartre on the Banks of the Seine. Oil on

         19  velvet? Tourist postcards? Your portrait in pastels

         20  for 15 bucks? Yes, there are legitimate artists out

         21  there, but realistically they are only ten percent.

         22  The rest are just, you know, quick schlock

         23  (phonetic) artists.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Mr. Honigman, if

         25  I could ask you to just finish up?
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          2                 MR. HONIGMAN: Okay, I am. And, you

          3  know, what I'm saying is Paris is growing new parks

          4  and they fostered the political will to do so.

          5                 What I'm saying is that, you know,

          6  we're not against art, we're artists, but we believe

          7  that parks has the right and the mission of being a

          8  park and to control it's programming; whether it's

          9  skateboarding, sailboats, running, lying in the

         10  grass, or to carefully spread out arts projects.

         11                 In the subways, we have arts under

         12  the streets programs, which has allowed performing

         13  artists the opportunity to entertain millions

         14  without being obstructive or obnoxious, and that's a

         15  transportation venue.

         16                 As a community gardener who hauls

         17  garbage out of our third of an acre in summertime,

         18  gardens the volunteer plot and mows the lawn and

         19  even shovels snow, I know in my back how hard it is

         20  to maintain public space in this City and keep it

         21  balanced in content and enjoyment for all New

         22  Yorkers.

         23                 Maintaining parks either professional

         24  or through partnerships is the people supporting the

         25  people's place for everybody. It's not a place for
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          2  opportunists to get over.

          3                 So, why not permit Parks to do the

          4  same thing in our City's back yard. Not banning art,

          5  if it's art by any means, but spacing it out,

          6  directing the program for our public spaces, in a

          7  sensible and advantageous way for the millions of

          8  New Yorkers and visitors that they serve every year.

          9                 On behalf of the 4,000 keyholders of

         10  the Clinton Community Garden, and its Steering

         11  Committee, I tell you that we support Intro. 160

         12  because we need balance in our fought-over and

         13  desperately needed public spaces. Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 Any questions?

         18                 Thank you. Any questions?

         19                 Panel, thank you very much for your

         20  time, testimony and patience today.

         21                 Thank you very much.

         22                 Our next panel is Eric Uhltelder and

         23  Sean Basinski. That is our next panel. Again, we

         24  have roughly about 30 to 35 witnesses still to give

         25  testimony. If you cannot wait around, you can also

                                                            210

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  hand in your written testimony, we will make it part

          3  of the record.

          4                 Is Norma P. Munn here? Sean Basinski?

          5  Okay, Sean. Is Eric here? Eric Uhltelder?

          6                 Is there a Patrick Stecher here? And

          7  a Helene Leonardi? Helene? Okay.

          8                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Can you please

          9  raise your right hand?

         10                 Do you swear or affirm to tell the

         11  truth?

         12                 (Witnesses sworn.)

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay, if you'll

         14  please state your name and give your testimony.

         15                 MR. STECHER: My name is Patrick

         16  Stecher. I'm a street artist. I've had the pleasure

         17  of selling my work in New York off and on for the

         18  past three years, and one of the things I really

         19  enjoy and value about New York is that artists can

         20  come from all over the world, and if you're selling

         21  your art, your art goes all over the world and you

         22  get to communicate with people in a very special

         23  way, I guess. And I enjoy the way things are now.

         24  I'm against Proposition 160 because I think it would

         25  inhibit the flow of that kind of communication of
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          2  the artists that can come and go.

          3                 One of the things I noticed about the

          4  pictures that they showed at Battery Park is, it

          5  didn't look very congested to me personally. I kind

          6  of enjoy my experience when I go to the park. I

          7  notice everyone in those pictures was actually

          8  looking at the artwork displayed, and I think that's

          9  important because, you know, those people looked

         10  like they were enjoying themselves and enjoying the

         11  park the way it is now. I don't find a problem, as

         12  it was indicated, that original artists cannot

         13  compete with people who are just selling mass

         14  produced art, whatever, I can do just fine when I

         15  come to New York, and I guess I just enjoy it the

         16  way it is, and I'd like to keep it that way.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Please state

         18  your name and your testimony, please.

         19                 MR. BASINSKI: Thank you. I'm Sean

         20  Basinski. I'm the Director of the Street Vendor

         21  Project at the Urban Justice Center. The project I

         22  represent and advocates on behalf of our city's

         23  approximately 10,000 street vendors, including those

         24  who sell books and art.

         25                 I'm also a former vendor myself.
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          2                 Much of what I prepared for today is

          3  in the written record, and much of it has been

          4  covered, so I just want to highlight a few things so

          5  we can make this move.

          6                 The Street Vendor Project would not

          7  be opposed to reasonable regulations on First

          8  Amendment protected vendors in our parks, but Intro.

          9  160 does not provide that. That may be in round 2

         10  but it may not be and there's no way of knowing.

         11                 Instead, it gives the Parks

         12  Department carte blanche to limit free expression as

         13  it sees fit. Given the long-standing feud between

         14  the Department and First Amendment protected

         15  vendors, that's a bad idea. It's bad for the

         16  principle of free expression, and also bad because

         17  it will take jobs away from hard-working immigrants

         18  and struggling artists, people who are very

         19  vulnerable, especially during these difficult

         20  economic times.

         21                 As has been discussed, congestion is

         22  not a real problem, because it can be remedied by

         23  the existing laws that are already on the books, and

         24  enforcement of those laws. There are many rules,

         25  which have been discussed, including the 8 feet by 3
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          2  feet by 5 feet. Additional rules include the

          3  requirement that there be a 12 foot wide clear

          4  pedestrian path, for example. These rules are not

          5  enforced at all in the parks right now. They are

          6  enforced on the streets where things work pretty

          7  well, and vendors tend to comply with those rules

          8  eventually because they receive tickets if they

          9  don't.

         10                 I heard today that apparently the

         11  Police Department does not enforce these vending

         12  rules in the parks, I don't know why that's the

         13  case, but I think that's one thing of looking into

         14  if the Parks Department enforcement is not adequate

         15  because they don't have enough people on staff.

         16                 We walked, canvassed the parks back

         17  in September on two beautiful days and counted a

         18  total of 111 book vendors and art vendors in the

         19  five parks that we canvassed, which were only two

         20  parks, Central Park and Battery Park. That, it

         21  should be noted, is compared to approximately that

         22  same number in those two parks of vendors of hotdogs

         23  and souvenirs that have been licensed and permitted

         24  by the Parks Department, and I noticed on some of

         25  these, the photos that we saw up here, the
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          2  congestion, and we've got photos as well, which I

          3  think we gave to the Committee, the congestion is

          4  often created by the Parks permitted vendors, the

          5  hotdog and souvenirs vendor, vendors, as it is by

          6  the artist and book vendors, primarily artists.

          7                 Very briefly, just a couple of other

          8  points. One thing that again was touched on, but I

          9  think not enough, and not in enough detail, Intro.

         10  160 would allow the Parks Department to restrict

         11  First Amendment activity within 350 feet of any park

         12  boundary for the City Charter and, of course, if you

         13  think about that, that's not just the boundaries of

         14  Central Park and Battery Park but the boundaries of

         15  every recreation center and every playground

         16  throughout the City. And if you draw a football

         17  field boundary around every Parks Department, we're

         18  talking about potential limitation on First

         19  Amendment expression in a big chunk of our City, and

         20  I think that you all should be very aware of what

         21  the ramifications of passing Intro. 160 would be for

         22  that reason.

         23                 As far as I see, one of the things

         24  that's been bandied about today, this idea of, well,

         25  we can talk about the particulars of a system, the
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          2  details of a permitting system, in my opinion we can

          3  talk about either before Intro. 160 passes or

          4  afterward. Afterward, giving the tension between

          5  these two parties, the City Council may be invited

          6  to have input and artists may be invited to have

          7  input, but what the Parks Department said goes in

          8  that case.

          9                 On the other hand, if you send this

         10  back, if you send Intro. 160 back to the Parks

         11  Department and say give us more details now on what

         12  you're planning, and let us approve those because

         13  it's our job at City Council to do so, that would be

         14  a better course.

         15                 And so we would ask the Committee on

         16  that basis to vote no to Intro. 160. Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you. Thank

         18  you.

         19                 Ma'am, just state your name and give

         20  your testimony, please.

         21                 MS. LEONARDI: Okay. My name is Helene

         22  Leonardi. I'm a street artist. I've been a full-time

         23  artist, I'd like to say 50 years, that I started

         24  when I was four, but now I've told you my age.

         25                 But anyways, I once was doing a craft
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          2  fair at the Brooklyn promenade and a tourist came up

          3  to me and said, how much does the City pay you to

          4  show your work to the tourists? And I said, are you

          5  talking about -- there's no way, I had to pay to be

          6  here. And she said, in my country we give a -- we

          7  pay the artist to show their work. And in Holland

          8  artists are even allowed to homestead abandoned

          9  houses, and after they improve them, they become

         10  their legal owners.

         11                 Also, the government purchases their

         12  art for a public lending art library. I think that

         13  sounds a little bit like Heaven but you would think

         14  in a country like we live in that there would be

         15  some things like this happening here.

         16                 My husband and I sell our

         17  collaborated art on the streets of New York, and we

         18  sell them to other tourists from all over the world.

         19                 We have helped build a bridge of

         20  cross cultural understanding to a myriad of people

         21  around the globe. We assemble our sculptures by

         22  hand, we sew and fabricate and for them to take away

         23  our First Amendment Right to do commerce in New York

         24  City is abominable. And then to sell public space to

         25  the highest bidder, for example a Wendy's or a
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          2  Burger King or a McDonalds, eradicates the ability

          3  of the common artist to compete. RH Macy, Goldman

          4  Sachs, all started out as peddlers on the streets of

          5  New York City. Now, all the haves want to keep all

          6  of us from having the freedom to fulfill our

          7  destinies, our dreams and to make a living.

          8                 Mayor Bloomberg has allowed Christo

          9  and his wife Jean Claude to be installing a

         10  billowing safron-colored fabric along Central Park.

         11  This is because there are blue chip artists, and in

         12  an article in the Times recently, Tom Acos, the

         13  Director of the Public Art Fund, said you do not

         14  want this kind of experience in the park, but Mayor

         15  Bloomberg's Administration is trying things not done

         16  before, so it is not an issue whether he likes it or

         17  not.

         18                 And the Administration is also

         19  putting in a witchcatcher, right here in City Hall

         20  Park, that is sponsored by Bloomberg money. But the

         21  common artist making their living is pushed out.

         22                 Now I'll say something really quick.

         23  We have helped Carolyn Ray, the comedian, find Green

         24  Street. David Brenner enjoying a moment of fun with

         25  the sun in our booth, Chevy Chase and Robin Williams
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          2  do an impromptu comedy sketch about our work in our

          3  booth. Whoopi Goldberg has supported us by coming to

          4  SoHo and purchasing art from street artists.

          5                 We have a relationship with the

          6  community, the store owners, that has grown into

          7  friendship and trust. We have planted flowers around

          8  several trees last spring, that brought a beautiful

          9  ambience to the street.

         10                 We have nurtured our relationships,

         11  growing them into friendships and created with our

         12  art worldwide friendship. We will fight with our

         13  creative brothers and sisters to stop Intro. Bill

         14  160 from advancing into law.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

         17  Helene.

         18                 Any questions?

         19                 I want to thank the panel for their

         20  time, testimony and patience today. Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 Our next panel will be Michael Weiss,

         23  Honi Klein, and Monica Blum.

         24                 Your name, sir.

         25                 MR. WEISS: I have Monica Blum's
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          2  statement.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: What's your

          4  name, sir?

          5                 MR. WEISS: I'm Mike Weiss.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay.

          7                 MR. WEISS: And Monica's is here.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Is there a Chris

          9  Rizzo here?

         10                 MR. RIZZO: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Chris, Come on

         12  down.

         13                 Is there a Sean Sweeney here? Sean?

         14  No. Sean, yes. Sorry. Sean, come on down.

         15                 Please raise your right hand.

         16                 Do you swear to tell the truth?

         17                 (Witnesses sworn.)

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Please state

         19  your name and give your testimony.

         20                 MR. RIZZO: My name is Christopher

         21  Rizzo. I am Counsel to the Municipal Arts Society,

         22  and we are here today to register our strong support

         23  of Intro. 160.

         24                 Some of you are familiar with the

         25  Society's work. We have long championed the
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          2  restrictions on the commercial use of our public

          3  spaces, whether it's vending in parks, advertising

          4  in parks, billboards along our public highways.

          5                 Intro. 160 is a rational and

          6  necessary first step to reinstate some balance in

          7  our parks. Of course it is only a first step and

          8  that bears repeating, as was stated at the beginning

          9  of this hearing, almost four hours ago.

         10                 We are mindful of the First Amendment

         11  concerns which have been raised by some of the

         12  people here testifying today, and I would like to

         13  add that Intro. 160 would simply provide Parks

         14  Department with what cities and agencies have all

         15  over this country, which is the ability to regulate

         16  the use of parks, streets, sidewalks and other

         17  public spaces.

         18                 The regulation of these public spaces

         19  does not need to violate constitutional rights.

         20  Regulations can be crafted to deal only with the

         21  time, place and manner of speech. In other words,

         22  that they are content neutral. Municipalities

         23  regularly do this, and have done so and been upheld

         24  by courts time and time again.

         25                 I would like also to offer the
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          2  Society's support to the City Council and to the

          3  Parks Department in crafting these regulations, in

          4  whatever form that may take.

          5                 We've worked with the City Council,

          6  and various administrative agencies over the years,

          7  and we'd be willing to do so again to craft

          8  regulations which were protective of the parks, as

          9  well as constitutional rights.

         10                 And I would add a couple of other

         11  points in my time remaining. Earlier today someone

         12  asked what would happen if Intro. 160 was not

         13  passed. Well, the Parks Department would be left

         14  without the ability to regulate the commercial use

         15  of parks. There are vending statutes in this City,

         16  they are applicable to parks but they're not

         17  relevant.

         18                 Number two, Intro. 160 deals with

         19  vending in parks, not the use of parks for free

         20  speech. That's a rational distinction. Of course,

         21  the commercial free speech is entitled to

         22  protections as well, as non-commercial free speech,

         23  but the City again and again will regulate

         24  commercial free speech in a different way.

         25                 For example the City Council recently
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          2  passed a newsrack bill, and the DOT is crafting

          3  newsrack regulations, which deal with just that, the

          4  commercial sale of newspapers. It doesn't apply to

          5  leafletting and that's a rational distinction.

          6                 Again, thank you for your time today.

          7  I'd like to offer our support again of Intro. 160,

          8  and I hope to see it passed.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 MR. SWEENEY: Hello. My name is Sean

         11  Sweeney. I'm on Community Board 2, landmarks, I'm

         12  the Chair of the Landmarks Committee. I'm also the

         13  Executive Director of the SoHo Alliance founded in

         14  1979. We're a New York State registered, non-profit

         15  organization, purely all volunteers, concerned with

         16  environmental and landmarking and zoning issues and

         17  quality of life issues as how they relate to the

         18  artists at SoHo.

         19                 I will let the Council members know,

         20  up in SoHo you are not allowed to live in a loft

         21  unless at least one member of the household is

         22  certified as an artist by the Department of Cultural

         23  Affairs. If you live there without certification,

         24  you are living there illegally.

         25                 We don't talk about First Amendment,
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          2  we want to live somewhere.

          3                 Again, galleries also are permitted.

          4  You have to go through the Department of Cultural

          5  Affairs, Zoning, the Department of Buildings, et

          6  cetera.

          7                 So, if you have to be certified to

          8  live in a place, and certified -- to live in your

          9  own building you might actually own and certified to

         10  do business on your place that you pay rent on, it

         11  seems not asking too much that you should need a

         12  permit to sell on public parks.

         13                 And actually, we did have a meeting

         14  when this came up in 1994, we had a SoHo Alliance

         15  meeting, about 150 people attended and a lot of the

         16  artists were sympathetic to the plight of the street

         17  artists. Actually, really not artists, the street

         18  art dealers, there's a distinction there. If you

         19  want to go a street artist, you go to Paris and you

         20  see them painting on the street, that's a street

         21  artist. These are commercial art dealers.

         22                 And although we were sympathetic to

         23  their cause, we said, look, you know, we need

         24  regulation, we don't want our streets overrun,

         25  congested by people selling what they claim to be
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          2  art. And what is art? Well, some lady actually

          3  chased some guy selling t-shirts off a stoop on West

          4  Broadway, and he goes, I'm not selling t-shirts, I'm

          5  selling art, and who's going to define what art is?

          6  The police. Someone who is trained in criminology? I

          7  mean, if a policeman walks down and he sees a Robert

          8  Maple Thorp, a crucifix in urine, is he going to

          9  arrest that art dealer? Or is he going to sell that

         10  art? And what happens in that same policeman walks

         11  down and sees Elvis on black velvet, is that who are

         12  going to determine what is art? We need something

         13  rational, something very sane, and I think

         14  Proposition 160 gives us that.

         15                 And to get back to what Council

         16  Member Jackson said, what would happen if this is

         17  not passed? The same thing is going to happen in

         18  Central Park, which has happened in SoHo, it's

         19  turned into a zoo. People in SoHo do not leave their

         20  houses on Saturday and Sunday to buy food because we

         21  can't walk down the Street. Our neighborhood is

         22  ruined, and one of the reasons that SoHo artists is

         23  preeminent, is it is in the art scene as it was ten

         24  years ago, was because of the street vendors who

         25  were selling art to cheapen the place. Serious art
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          2  dealers do not consider SoHo a legitimate venue to

          3  buy art because they're selling -- excuse my --

          4  they're selling junk on the street.

          5                 So, I just want to say I'm not the

          6  only one who shares this opinion. I would give you

          7  the Daily News' editorial, which basically says City

          8  agencies have the right, the authority to manage

          9  public spaces. Again, the New York Sun does the same

         10  thing. There's no reason that this shouldn't be

         11  subject to a permitting process that keeps these

         12  vendors under control.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, Mr.

         15  Sweeney.

         16                 Mr. Weiss.

         17                 MR. WEISS: Thanks. My name is Mike

         18  Weiss. I'm the Executive Director of the Metrotech

         19  Business Improvement District in Brooklyn, and also

         20  head up the BID Managers Association, and the

         21  committee, the BID Managers Association currently

         22  consists of the executive directors of 44 BIDs in

         23  New York City.

         24                 I don't want to repeat all the

         25  testimony that's been given. I think that
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          2  Commissioner Benepe and the members of the City

          3  Council who passed the laws years ago were

          4  articulate in explaining what the issues are.

          5  Suffice it to say, though, that the BIDs in New York

          6  City have long been interested in working with the

          7  City to craft an effective vendor regulation system

          8  in the City, and this not only gets at the parks,

          9  but also at the City streets.

         10                 What we've felt in long discussions

         11  and a lot of thought is that there has to be a

         12  system set up and it needs to be a system that is

         13  enforceable. And in the absence of the system and

         14  the enforcement, you have chaos, which is currently

         15  the situation on the City streets, and we feel that

         16  160 at least in the case of the parks begins to get

         17  at the root of the problem in setting up a rational

         18  and effective system, one that does not trample on

         19  the First Amendment Rights of the vendors that are

         20  being regulated, but at the same time sets up some

         21  rules that people can live by and then can be

         22  enforced.

         23                 So, in that way we support this

         24  legislation, BIDs have been very interested in the

         25  parks, many parks exist within BIDs or close
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          2  proximity to BIDs. The Business Improvement

          3  Districts, in fact, expend lots of resources in

          4  keeping the parks in their areas clean and safe, and

          5  in working with the Parks Department on these

          6  issues, and we feel the municipality itself does

          7  have the right to regulate these types of

          8  activities, and in fact, it's almost a shirking of

          9  responsibility not to regulate them.

         10                 So, we would hope that the Council

         11  would move ahead with this legislation. There have

         12  been some good suggestions made here today which I'm

         13  sure, you know, you will take under consideration,

         14  but the sense of the BID managers is that this is a

         15  good piece of legislation, and that with your good

         16  counsel we at least will move one step further in

         17  the area of regulating this type of activity.

         18                 And thank you very much for staying

         19  around for four hours.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, Mr.

         21  Weiss.

         22                 Any questions from my colleagues? No.

         23                 To the panel, I thank you very much

         24  for your time and patience today. Thank you for your

         25  testimony.
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          2                 Our next panel will be Bill Leonardi.

          3  Is Bill here? Okay. Ra-Amon. Is Ra-Amon here? From

          4  Universal Vendors. Chanda Hopkins. Is Chanda here?

          5  Chanda Hopkins.

          6                 Kumchak Wamgyal. Okay, I got Chanda.

          7  Kumchak? Oh, snuck up on me.

          8                 Please raise your right hand for

          9  being sworn in, please.

         10                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

         11  affirm to tell the truth?

         12                 (Witnesses sworn.)

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Please state

         14  your name and give your testimony.

         15                 MR. RA-AMON: Yes. My name is Ra-Amon.

         16  I am an ancient, free and accepted sovereign citizen

         17  of the earth, and with that mindset, I would like to

         18  say that I respect all law, civilized law, for the

         19  purpose of governing the people towards a moral,

         20  civilized manner.

         21                 I am one who is always looking up to

         22  see the best in things, and as I was looking up in

         23  the august hall here, I happened to notice some

         24  great sayings by some of the statesmen of their

         25  country.
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          2                 I think that with Abraham Lincoln,

          3  the so-called great emancipator, saying that as I

          4  quote here, "a government of the people, by the

          5  people, for the people," and I think that out of

          6  those conjunctive phrases, the one that is most

          7  important to me is for the people.

          8                 I see here a opportunity for certain

          9  special interest groups to try to usurp what is

         10  given in the so-called Declaration of Independence

         11  of this country, the inalienable right to the

         12  pursuit of life, liberty and happiness.

         13                 I feel that as long as one is doing

         14  that without a clear and danger, a clear and

         15  dangerous attitude towards the people, that they

         16  should be allowed to work and receive their due by

         17  the sweat of their brow.

         18                 I see here that we have government in

         19  this country that has put a lot of hurt on a lot of

         20  people, and in this day and time with the loss of

         21  civil liberties, according to the so-called

         22  anti-terrorist acts and patriotic acts, that my

         23  people, as well as other so-called minorities, have

         24  suffered from lack of opportunity to express our

         25  abilities for life, liberty and the pursuit of
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          2  happiness.

          3                 This proposal, 160, would definitely

          4  put a hurt upon a lot of people. I have been a

          5  vendor for 35 years, and have vended all over

          6  America and out of the country, and I see an

          7  opportunity for people to raise themselves up, if

          8  they have free rein to express their idea, and the

          9  freedom of expression, as is given by the

         10  constitution of this country, which I respect, that

         11  I also respect, as I stated earlier, the inalienable

         12  right that is given by our creator to have life,

         13  liberty and pursuit of happiness.

         14                 I have been not arrested per se in

         15  the way of vending, but I have had my property

         16  stolen by the so-called authorities, and I have

         17  represented myself in court and have won every time,

         18  because I am for freedom.

         19                 I don't see how anyone could regulate

         20  all this idea about congestion. You know, I can

         21  remember when I was at the famous million man march

         22  in Washington, D.C., there was a lot of congestion,

         23  but there wasn't any arrest. The people govern

         24  themselves, just like the vendors do here.

         25                 There are times when somebody might
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          2  be out in the way of disrespecting somebody else,

          3  but basically we do enforce laws among ourselves so

          4  that the City doesn't have to come down on us.

          5                 So, I am against the adoption of 160,

          6  and I hope that you are all realizing that one day

          7  you maybe have to be out here soon, because it's

          8  coming to that, and you might want to lead the way

          9  clear that you have an opportunity to sell your

         10  ideas so that you can keep your family going.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, Mr.

         12  Ra-Amon.

         13                 Chanda Hopkins.

         14                 MS. HOPKINS: Hi. I'm Chanda Hopkins.

         15  I've been selling my art for about a year and a half

         16  now. There are several things I wanted to speak

         17  about today. This is the first meeting like this

         18  I've ever been to, so I appreciate the opportunity

         19  to speak.

         20                 What you all are calling congestion,

         21  I see as happy tourists. Every time I go out and

         22  sell, I have people from all over the world telling

         23  me, wow, this is so great that you all are doing

         24  this, this is so neat, this is part of New York. We

         25  are part of a flavor of New York and what makes New
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          2  York New York. So, as far as the congestion thing,

          3  yes, there is congestion, but it's not congestion in

          4  a bad way, it's tourists, it's happy tourists,

          5  people that are going home and who are going to

          6  share their experience of New York and New York

          7  artists with people around the world. So, that's the

          8  first thing I have to say. It's not a gauntlet, it's

          9  not a Byzantine, whatever the man called it,

         10  whatever it is he called it, it's not that.

         11                 The other thing that I wanted to

         12  bring up was that you all are saying, or the Parks

         13  Department is saying that they don't have enough PEP

         14  officers to regulate and, you know, check after

         15  artists, but who's going to go around and check for

         16  permits? I think they're going to find our officers

         17  who do that, if you all do pass this, is the same

         18  hours that are checking for permits could be spent

         19  enforcing the laws that are already on the books.

         20  Not making more. I don't want to be a criminal.

         21  Making my art does not make me a criminal and

         22  sharing it with the world, even if it does happen to

         23  be in Central Park doesn't make me a criminal. My

         24  first time I came here to New York, I saw the

         25  artists selling on the street and I thought wow, I'd
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          2  love to do that, not actually thinking I'd do it.

          3  Not actually realizing how hard it is.

          4                 These people that are here today are

          5  just a small percentage of the people that are

          6  actually out there selling, and they're just a small

          7  percentage of people that are enjoying the art that

          8  we bring. And for the gentleman to say, oh, you

          9  know, you're going to be sued anyway, so you might

         10  as well just go ahead and put it into the books,

         11  well, yes, you may be sued, on either course you

         12  take, you may be sued. But also, if you take the

         13  course of Intro. 160, you're going to be putting a

         14  lot of people out of business, you're going to be

         15  taking food out of the mouths of honest working,

         16  hard working families, you're going to be putting

         17  officers in the position of having to go and ask for

         18  permits and take people to jail and things like

         19  that. It's just not right. This is America. We are

         20  just trying to share our opinions and our beliefs.

         21                 Another thing I also wanted to say,

         22  too, is as far as our right to freedom of

         23  expression, if I go home tonight on the news and

         24  Bush is going on the television talking about more

         25  war, more war, and all of us Americans are for it,
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          2  and I make a art piece tonight saying that I'm not

          3  for war, I should be able to go out in the park

          4  tomorrow and take that out there and share that with

          5  the world.

          6                 I shouldn't have to go and apply for

          7  a permit downtown, go and hope that I get a place to

          8  sell there. If I want to go and sell there and show

          9  that expression, I'm willing to get up at 5:00 in

         10  the morning, carry my 200 pound cart up and down the

         11  subway, and get that spot so I can share that idea.

         12                 And for you all to say that I would

         13  have to do otherwise, is unAmerican.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, Ms.

         16  Hopkins.

         17                 MR. LEONARDI: Hi. My name is Bill

         18  Leonardi. I've been an artist, professional artist

         19  for 19 years with my wife. I have dealt, and for the

         20  last five years we've sold on the street to West

         21  Broadway in SoHo, and prior to that we did art shows

         22  around the -- up and down the east coast and I've

         23  had many dealings with the Parks Department and

         24  doing shows in which we had to pay to do.

         25                 I'd like to make comments about,
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          2  starting with Commissioner Benepe's statement this

          3  afternoon.

          4                 He alluded to permit situations in

          5  other cities around the country and how this has

          6  worked out fine. I would suggest that the reason

          7  that happened is because there was mutual respect in

          8  those cities.

          9                 In New York City artists were not

         10  heard when they were set up on the street and being

         11  arrested and they were confiscated, efforts were

         12  made by artists, and Robert Lederman, to come to

         13  some kind of understanding with the City and the

         14  City flatly refused, okay?

         15                 Our only recourse was to the courts,

         16  and in the very decision of 1996 it clearly states

         17  that the City cannot require a permit on the streets

         18  or in the park, period. That ruling was appealed by

         19  the City of New York to the US Supreme Court, and

         20  the Supreme Court left a Lower Court decision stand.

         21                 In America you would think that's the

         22  end of the story. We're not in New York, okay?

         23                 Now, since then it's taken four more

         24  court decisions, both federal and state, before --

         25  until 1981 when the City finally relented and
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          2  stopped arresting artists who set up in the parks,

          3  because the City claimed that the parks was not part

          4  of public streets.

          5                 Now, in Commissioner Benepe's

          6  presentation, I got the impression that the part of

          7  the parks he's most objectionable to is the sidewalk

          8  outside the park. That's what he wants to regulate

          9  most. And he says the congestion by our displays is

         10  too much. Well, I have paid the City and promoted

         11  $250 to set up in the very land that he showed you,

         12  on six of the prime weekends, most congested

         13  weekends of the City of tourism.

         14                 I've been allowed to set up a six

         15  foot by ten foot by six foot display, and there is

         16  no congestion. That stonewall photograph he showed

         17  you is either the east side of Fifth Avenue or 59th

         18  Street, along the north side of 59th Street. This

         19  sidewalk is 15 feet wide. We could come out six feet

         20  out and there is still room for people to walk and

         21  we pay $250 for a weekend to be there, okay?

         22                 One of the biggest money-makers right

         23  now is the Columbus Avenue Street show.  That's been

         24  going on for -- I guess I'm done.

         25                 Okay, the Columbus Avenue show has
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          2  been going on and the City gets over $80,000 a year

          3  for the six weekends they put that show on.

          4                 We have won the right in court, that

          5  can't be and shouldn't be challenged, and I think

          6  this 160 is an evasion of the law. It shouldn't even

          7  be allowed to be put on the books, and I'm quite

          8  sure that the whole vending law of New York City

          9  will be thrown out if you make it legal.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Mr. Leonardi,

         11  thank you very much.

         12                 Questions. Council Member Brewer.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: It sounds like

         14  you all sell original art; is that true?

         15                 MR. LEONARDI: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, thank

         17  you very much.

         18                 MS. HOPKINS: As far as working with

         19  the Parks Department, afterwards, in a phase II and

         20  things like that, to decide what is art and what is

         21  not and all these other things, you cannot decide

         22  what is art. Art is subjective. So as far as working

         23  with the City later on to decide these things and

         24  who does it, it's really not constitutional.

         25                 MR. RA-AMON: Yes, I would like to
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          2  answer a question. She said I presume that you all

          3  sell original art, I make incense, and I am a

          4  craftman of that, have learned an ancient Egyptian

          5  secret that I bring to New York and the world of

          6  very fine incense, but yet it has been declared that

          7  incense is not a religious article. I represent a

          8  religious organization, the secret came from a

          9  religious source, and so for them to say that I

         10  cannot sell incense, because it's not a religious

         11  article and I have to get a general vendor's

         12  license, which they say is a six-year wait, they

         13  only give out 382, and there's thousands of vendors

         14  out here trying to make an honest living, something

         15  is not right. I would like to see an increase of

         16  that so-called quota, and I would also like to see

         17  if somebody has a religious article, that they are

         18  to be able to free, they are to be able to be free

         19  to sell that article, not only according to the

         20  constitution and the First Amendment, but also to

         21  that same inalienable right to make life, liberty

         22  and pursuit of happiness, given by the grand

         23  architect of the universe.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, Mr.

         25  Ra-Amon. Thank you very much for your time and
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          2  testimony today. Thank you.

          3                 Our next panel is Karen Young. Is

          4  Karen here? Frank Schorn. Okay, we've got Frank.

          5                 Is Dan Biederman here? Dan? Dan is

          6  here. And is Joe Tango here? Is there a Joe Tango?

          7  Okay, gentlemen, would you please raise your right

          8  hand and be ready to be sworn in.

          9                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

         10  affirm to tell the truth?

         11                 (Witnesses sworn.)

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Please state

         13  your name and give your testimony.

         14                 MR. SCHORN: I'm Frank Schorn. I'm the

         15  Vice President and Counsel of the Central Park

         16  Medical Unit.

         17                 Central Park Medical Unit is the only

         18  independent volunteer ambulance squad in Manhattan.

         19  Since 1975, more than 100 volunteer emergency

         20  medical technicians, paramedics, and physicians,

         21  have given their time freely, despite the thousands

         22  of medical emergencies inside Central Park.

         23                 We staff two New York State certified

         24  ambulances, operate an EMT bicycle patrol during

         25  warmer months and provide emergency care at an aid
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          2  station in Wolman Rink. We're the front-line

          3  emergency medical responders for the many concerts,

          4  sporting events, corporate challenge races, New York

          5  City marathons and other events in Central Park.

          6  Because we know every nook and cranny in Central

          7  Park, we're able to respond to medical emergencies

          8  very quickly.

          9                 Please understand that neither the

         10  Central Park Medical Unit, nor myself personally,

         11  oppose art or artists. In fact, I've purchased art

         12  from vendors in Central Park.

         13                 However, the organization wishes to

         14  support Intro. 160 in its consideration of public

         15  health and safety as a factor and issue licenses and

         16  permits to vendors and others in Central Park.

         17                 It has been our experience,

         18  especially in congested areas during the spring and

         19  fall, and by that we mean entrances, roadways,

         20  secondary passengers within Central Park, that

         21  people are unable to pass because of larger crowds,

         22  spillover effects, people being pushed into narrower

         23  spaces. We're concerned that people will be injured

         24  by being struck by passing vehicles, bicyclists,

         25  road bladers and others.
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          2                 In fact, we responded to numerous

          3  calls for people who have been injured in just that

          4  way.

          5                 Large numbers of people can include

          6  and block the passage of emergency vehicles,

          7  delaying the arrival of a required medical, fire or

          8  police responders.

          9                 From my own six years of experience

         10  with the Central Park Medical Unit, there's nothing

         11  more frustrating than having to slowly navigate

         12  through crowds of people in order to get through to

         13  persons we know are seriously ill or injured.

         14                 As you know, sometimes minutes can

         15  make the difference between life and death.

         16                 While we revel in the diversity of

         17  the people, music and art and sporting events and

         18  other facets which make Central Park an emerald

         19  jewel in our City, we recognize that emergency

         20  access throughout Central Park is necessary for the

         21  protection of the people, and for that reason we

         22  applaud Intro. 160's desire to maintain public

         23  safety and health. Thank you.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Thank you

         25  very much.
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          2                 Mr. Tango.

          3                 MR. TANGO: Tango, like the dance.

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Oh, okay.

          5  That would have been the easier one. You're on.

          6                 MR. TANGO: Good afternoon, Council

          7  members.

          8                 I am here representing Karen Shaw. My

          9  name is Joe Tango, from the 14th Street Business

         10  Improvement District. Karen was here, unfortunately

         11  she got called away.

         12                 I appreciate the opportunity to

         13  testify in support of Intro. 160 and tell you why I

         14  believe there is a real need for this legislation.

         15                 Intro. 160 will clarify the

         16  Administrative Code and empower the Commissioner of

         17  Parks and Recreation to regulate the sale of art and

         18  written matter within the City Parks system to a

         19  permitting system. The bill will not eliminate the

         20  ability of a vendor to sell or display written

         21  material on park property, but would rather

         22  establish a fair system, which would permit vending

         23  subject to reasonable restrictions of time, place

         24  and matter.

         25                 By helping to clarify the
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          2  Commissioner's ability to regulate vending within

          3  the parks, we ensure that commercial interests

          4  cannot be overrun by our protected parklands. I want

          5  to be very clear that the 14th Street Union Square

          6  BID is not opposed to vendors. This is not about

          7  eliminating vending.

          8                 We will support local vendors and

          9  want them to have the opportunity to continue to

         10  sell their merchandise. Intro. 160 will not prevent

         11  them from doing so. We believe this legislation is a

         12  positive step in the right direction of creating a

         13  fair system for regulating commercial activity in

         14  public spaces while being responsive and sensitive

         15  to preserving the First Amendment Rights of free

         16  speech.

         17                 Intro. 160 will enable the Parks

         18  Commissioner to utilize a fair system to ensure that

         19  no area of parks becomes overly congested.

         20                 We are confident with the authority

         21  provided by Intro. 160 the Parks Department will

         22  develop a fair system to balance both the commercial

         23  interest of vendors with the right of free speech so

         24  that our parks can continue to provide a peaceful

         25  escape for millions of people who use them each day.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Thank you

          4  very much. Mr. Biederman.

          5                 MR. BIEDERMAN: You have my written

          6  statement, Council members, and I don't need to read

          7  it further, but we've managed Bryant Park for 20

          8  years and Herald and Greely for four. We're the

          9  group who restored them. A couple of points. We have

         10  not found Commissioner Benepe to ever act without

         11  due consideration for all interests. Commissioner

         12  Stern was right on target with his comments of the

         13  false analogies of Nazi Germany and the like, that's

         14  the kind of overstatement which interest groups

         15  protecting vendors often indulge and should be

         16  condemned.

         17                 To the gentleman several hours ago

         18  who talked about the impossibility of being sketched

         19  to death, and vendors were not a danger to anyone,

         20  our 40th Street vendors at Bryant Park make it very

         21  clear how they can be dangerous. It's about 15-foot

         22  sidewalk, display takes five feet, they choose to

         23  stand in back of it on the two feet of sidewalk

         24  adjacent to the curb, and a couple of people stand

         25  and look at the exhibits and you're down to six feet
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          2  or so. So, at rush hour, the wise person seeing this

          3  crowd goes into the street, endangers him or herself

          4  and could be hit by a car or a bus or whatever is

          5  going past, trucks often on 40th Street. So, there

          6  is a danger from the overcrowding entrances to

          7  parks, and come out any day and see it. We have

          8  fewer of these vendors than others, but we thought

          9  it was necessary to support the Parks Commissioner

         10  who was trying to assert some control over what goes

         11  on in the park that he's supposed to manage.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Thank you

         14  very much. Any questions?

         15                 Okay, well, then let me thank you all

         16  very much for your input, which will be scrutinized.

         17                 Our next panel will consist of Jack

         18  Nesbitt. Forgive me if I don't pronounce -- Kumchak

         19  Xwamgyal, and Kunsang Doniee.

         20                 I see Mr. Nesbitt. Are any of the

         21  other witnesses present?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Is John Reidy

         23  here? John step up. And Paul Staffile. Paul

         24  Staffile, would you believe, Fuww Zhang? Fuww Zhang,

         25  that's Z-h-a-n-g. Estelle Levy? Estelle Levy?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay, I

          3  thought I saw you, Estelle.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Please raise

          5  your right hand for swearing in.

          6                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

          7  affirm to tell the truth?

          8                 (Witnesses sworn.)

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Please state

         10  your name and give your testimony. Ladies first.

         11                 MS. LEVY: I am Estelle Levy. I am an

         12  artist and I'm a member of the Community Free

         13  Democratic Club.

         14                 The Community Free Democratic Club

         15  has voted to oppose Intro. 160 as I do. I think it

         16  is very serious to have a three-part plan presented

         17  for enactment without the whole plan developed and

         18  worked out so that you can evaluate it.

         19                 If you look at that kind of practice,

         20  what is being done is an attempt to get the power

         21  and control is the first step because the artist

         22  versus the City government, just an imbalance of

         23  power, and once they move in, it's a total unfair

         24  kind of practice. The City Council has to keep in

         25  mind that Henry Stern and Adrian Benepe were
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          2  respectively Commissioner and Parks Commissioner of

          3  Manhattan Borough. And there is a lawsuit against

          4  them for behaviors based on bias and it is approved

          5  by the EEOC and there is an individual case against

          6  Henry Stern for bias. It's a federal case. And these

          7  issues of character and intent have got to be

          8  considered before you just turn over enormous

          9  amounts of power.

         10                 I once requested a permit of, under

         11  Henry Stern and Benepe, to put a structure, a

         12  sculpture of mine up in Central Park so I could

         13  photograph it.

         14                 What happened was I went to the

         15  permit office. I gave them $25, there was no sign

         16  that said this is not refundable. I was denied a

         17  permit, really because I'm an activist, and my money

         18  was not refunded.

         19                 So, they could deny me, on that

         20  basis, they could deny many street artists vending

         21  licenses, control the number of licenses, and

         22  minimize the number of street artists that are out

         23  there. I think that the issue of these entities,

         24  like the Conservancy and other such 501(c)(3's), you

         25  have to understand that they are private,
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          2  so-to-speak, they are not, you cannot know where

          3  their money goes, who is getting what salary, how

          4  they're decisions are being made, and you can't

          5  investigate them. So, these are all reasons why you

          6  must protect the rights of the vendors rather than

          7  take them away.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, Ms.

          9  Levy. Thank you.

         10                 State your name and give your

         11  testimony, please.

         12                 MR. REIDY: Hi. My name is John. I

         13  feel that Intro. 160, as it is currently written,

         14  and all the various stages that we don't even know

         15  about, is unlawful restriction on speech. It further

         16  perpetuates the vagueness of New York City law,

         17  local laws pertaining to what the First Amendment

         18  means to residents of New York City today. Vagueness

         19  violates the Fifth Amendment due process clause.

         20  Vagueness is an unlawful restriction on speech. The

         21  Court has ruled unconstitutional, laws that are so

         22  vaguely written that persons of average intelligence

         23  must guess at and likely differ as to its meaning

         24  and application, such laws shield speech because

         25  citizens facing such laws would keep quite out of
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          2  fear that their intended conduct would be illegal,

          3  as well vague laws leave law enforcement officers

          4  too much discretion to enforce the laws they see

          5  fit.

          6                 Specifically I feel that Intro. No.

          7  160 will provide the Commissioner of Parks and

          8  Recreation unbridled discretion which will

          9  undoubtedly lead to censorship, most likely

         10  monetarily based. Intro. 160 is a scheme that fails

         11  to place time limits in a time within which the

         12  Commissioner must issue the license or permit and

         13  fails to provide any details of the specific

         14  standards controlling the exercise of his

         15  discretionary power, pure and utter vagueness.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you.

         17                 Mr. Nesbitt.

         18                 MR. NESBITT: Yes. Good evening. My

         19  name is Jack Nesbitt. I'm a New York City street

         20  artist and a member of ARTIST.

         21                 I came originally from Seattle. I

         22  came all the way from Seattle to meet Robert

         23  Lederman and be engaged in this struggle for First

         24  Amendment Rights for the artist and to maintain a

         25  presence on the street and sell my work on the
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          2  street.

          3                 I'm half Native American, and anyone

          4  who owns or knows my work understands the spiritual

          5  quality of it. If Intro. 160 becomes law, and I am

          6  forced to get permission in order to speak of this

          7  sacredness, a vital portion of my voice will be

          8  silent, and people who come here from all over the

          9  world will not be able to see or hear what I have to

         10  say.

         11                 To me this land is sacred. We use its

         12  beauty to feed the deepest part of ourselves, and

         13  its beauty completes us.

         14                 If Intro. 160 becomes law, the parks

         15  of this great City, our most sacred land, will no

         16  longer be a place where we can speak in freedom, but

         17  will be a place where freedom of speech is sold to

         18  the highest bidder, and only those with the most

         19  money will be able to enjoy the freedom of that most

         20  basic human right, the right to go to our most

         21  sacred places and enjoy our most sacred right, the

         22  freedom of speech.

         23                 I urge you to defeat Intro. 160. And

         24  also, I'd like to comment on Adrian Benepe's

         25  statement that the parameters and the sidewalks

                                                            251

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  should be, in his opinion, part of the park

          3  experience.

          4                 I would like to make the statement

          5  that in my opinion, I think that the parks of New

          6  York City should be part of the American experience,

          7  and I believe that free speech needs no permit.

          8                 Thank you very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: I have a

         10  question from Council Member Alan Gerson.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Mr. Nesbitt,

         12  how, and it's good to see you again.

         13                 MR. NESBITT: Thank you.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: How would you

         15  deal with the few problem spots where the demand for

         16  available space exceeds the space that is available?

         17  I mean, you have 800, you have more sellers who want

         18  to be in a particular area than that area would

         19  accommodate, how would you allocate the space?

         20                 MR. NESBITT: Well, I would respond

         21  much the same way that Mitchell Balmuth and Robert

         22  Lederman responded, and that is to find another

         23  spot.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: First come

         25  first serve is what you're saying?
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          2                 MR. NESBITT: Of course.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Not

          4  necessarily obvious, but I want to hear your

          5  opinion. So, okay.

          6                 MR. NESBITT: Sure. Sure.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: To the panel,

         10  thank you very much for your time and testimony

         11  today. Thank you.

         12                 MR. REIDY: You're welcome.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you for

         14  your patience.

         15                 MR. NESBITT: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Our next panel,

         17  we'll start off with Homer Young-Kennedy. Homer.

         18  Diana Lakis. Okay, you're Diana. Okay. Estelle, it's

         19  good to see you. And Deborah Gilbert. Deborah,

         20  you're time has finally come, Deborah.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: See, that's

         22  why first come is not necessarily --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Deborah, thank

         24  you for your patience.

         25                 Please raise your right hand.
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          2                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

          3  affirm to tell the truth?

          4                 (Witnesses sworn.)

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Please state

          6  your name and give your testimony.

          7                 MR. YOUNG-KENNEDY: Oh, equal

          8  opportunity, great.

          9                 I'm Homer Young-Kennedy, III. I am

         10  the Executive Director for the Inwood Community

         11  Coalition, which is part of the Inwood Hills Park

         12  area, and also in the 7th Council District, of which

         13  Robert Jackson is the Council member.

         14                 As far as our opposing or approving

         15  of, we stand behind Intro. 160, because it basically

         16  clarifies a rule which is on the books already,

         17  which is vague, and it will give clarity and

         18  strength to the Commissioner of Parks to regulate

         19  the usage of that. We need the regulations, in terms

         20  of parks, in terms of park usage, because everybody

         21  who wants to use the parks cannot all just jump on

         22  the bandwagon. This is something that the Inwood

         23  Community Coalition has worked with and demanded of

         24  the area because within the Washington Heights mix

         25  we have a multi-ethnic and multi-cultural
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          2  environment in which nobody can -- not everybody can

          3  do the same thing at the same time. You've got an

          4  island consisting of 8 million people for the City

          5  of New York. If everybody decides they want to sell

          6  artwork at that point, it is like who, what happens

          7  if I decide I want to just get up and breathe fresh

          8  air that morning?

          9                 The only fair and equitable way of

         10  managing that kind of environment is through a

         11  permit, and the only fair and equitable way of

         12  handling a permit is make sure it's a minimally

         13  priced permit, and it's not done through the

         14  lottery.

         15                 As the earlier stated, it was stated

         16  that Walt Disney had taken over Central Park. Walt

         17  Disney did not take over Central Park. Walt Disney

         18  ran a lottery. The lottery was sponsored through

         19  every newspaper in the City. You sent in your name,

         20  if you were lucky enough to get a ticket, you and

         21  your family or the members or whoever got the ticket

         22  could enjoy Pocohontis in the park. It was a major

         23  event, to which Walt Disney also contributed a large

         24  amount of money. Anybody that is doing anything for

         25  the Parks Department does not do it for free. Any
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          2  kind of revenue is going to be gained. It is

          3  something coming back to the Parks Department. Parks

          4  are desperately and sorely underfunded. The money

          5  that is used from revenue, from permits and

          6  everything, are basically there to make sure that

          7  parks will retain at least some semblance of what

          8  greenspace is all about. It is necessary for all of

          9  us to do our part, as far as maintaining and

         10  applying to parks.

         11                 That is basically it. I think the

         12  whole concept of permitting, permitting space, is

         13  the fact that it shows accountability and

         14  responsibility so that everybody can have an equal

         15  opportunity in which to enjoy. There is nothing as

         16  far as the subjective use of art or the speech of

         17  art that leads to subjective interpretation, which

         18  leads to discrimination.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, sir.

         20  Thank you.

         21                 MS. GILBERT: Hi. I came with a

         22  prepared statement but after sitting through all

         23  this testimony, I feel like I really need to respond

         24  to some of the things that have been said.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay, Deborah.
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          2                 MS. GILBERT: I'm an artist, not a

          3  vendor, and one of the things that's bothered me

          4  here today is I keep hearing "artist vendor, artist

          5  vendor" being used interchangeably. They're not the

          6  same thing. And I think the best testimony given

          7  here today was that of Larry White. It was the most

          8  intelligent, the most reasonable, and it really

          9  spoke to the issues that I am concerned about, and

         10  that is the protection of intellectual property

         11  rights, and the fact that there are already laws on

         12  the books that should protect us, but they're not

         13  being enforced.

         14                 And I used to participate in the

         15  lottery program from the Parks Department. The

         16  system was not perfect, but there were aspects of it

         17  that were better than having no permit at all. The

         18  problems with the permit I don't think were due to

         19  any malfeasance on the part of the Parks Department

         20  employees. I think it was just that the people, that

         21  they were well meaning, but they simply weren't

         22  given the training to implement what they were meant

         23  to implement, and it was supposed to be for artists.

         24  They said that it was supposed to be for artists,

         25  but because they didn't have the training they
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          2  needed, very often vendors got the permits and

          3  artists were shut out.

          4                 So, you have to decide is it one or

          5  the other. I have nothing against vendors getting

          6  permits, but don't give permits to vendors when you

          7  say they are for artists. I think there's a big

          8  distinction there. And I am an actual original

          9  artist, I make and create everything that I sell,

         10  and I believe that there needs to be a system to

         11  identify us, whether you call that identification

         12  system or certification or something, so that we're

         13  protected. And what that would help to eliminate is

         14  the serious problem of infringement of intellectual

         15  property rights, many of the vendors, not all of

         16  them, but there are a lot who are selling work, that

         17  they infringe on the copyrights and trademarks of

         18  others. The First Amendment protects your right to

         19  free expression, but it does not give you the right

         20  to steal other people's work and sell it as your

         21  own.

         22                 To say that they're protected means

         23  that someone has the right, is protected by the

         24  First Amendment from breaking into my apartment and

         25  stealing my TV, and selling it on the street. No,
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          2  they're not. If someone steals my intellectual

          3  property and sells it, it's the same thing.

          4                 And I believe that you have laws on

          5  the books that if you eliminated the people who are

          6  illegal vendors, you wouldn't have this congestion

          7  problem, and quite frankly, I think the stroller

          8  wielding yuppies are a bigger menace than artists,

          9  as well as the tourists who travel in packs. I think

         10  you should make the tourists walk single file before

         11  you do permits.

         12                 But I also want to comment on one of

         13  the -- very quickly. Someone mentioned these

         14  non-sales tax-paying people. Well, I am a legitimate

         15  artist, I am a legitimate business person, I pay

         16  sales tax. I collect sales tax, I pay sales tax. I

         17  sell my work on the street, yes, but I collect and I

         18  pay sales tax, I also pay income tax, I also pay

         19  property taxes, which you just raised, thank you

         20  very much. And I'll be thinking about that guy in

         21  March when I'm writing out my big check to the State

         22  treasury. You know, we're not parasites, we're

         23  artists, and I believe that there is a way to work

         24  things out. I believe following the Los Angeles

         25  model so artists are allowed to be out there
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          2  collecting sales tax which benefits you, benefits

          3  us, everyone who benefits from government services.

          4  I just, finally just say that art is the lifeblood

          5  of this City. It's often ridiculous when I hear

          6  politicians act like, you know, they're supporting

          7  the arts. The fact is the arts support the

          8  government. It's what brings in the tourists, it's

          9  what gives New York its unique flavor. And I think

         10  that you should be protecting our rights, and by

         11  helping us protect our property, our intellectual

         12  property, and by creating more opportunities for

         13  artists, and I believe that's something that I would

         14  like to see you do.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, Ms.

         16  Gilbert. Thank you.

         17                 Ms. Lakis.

         18                 MS. LAKIS: Finally. I would like to

         19  thank the City Council for their brilliant show and

         20  honesty on the impartiality of this issue, and I

         21  congratulate you. This is not my first City Council

         22  meeting, and I am really impressed with the calibur

         23  of the City Council people that we have elected from

         24  the last election. I had to put that out. I've been

         25  telling my friends that, they must come to some of
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          2  these meetings when they're interested in these

          3  issues.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: If you could

          5  say all that at this hour, I'm very grateful and

          6  gratified. Thank you very much.

          7                 MS. LAKIS: Well, I'm just grateful

          8  that this is our process and it's working.

          9                 I keep referring back to the First

         10  Amendment. I'm a real advocate of our constitution

         11  and our First Amendment and our Bill of Rights, and

         12  I'm a staunch defender of them. My grandparents came

         13  over on an oceanliner and the other side was kind of

         14  here, Native Americans, so I have a mixed bag.

         15                 My name is Diana Lakis and my partner

         16  is Tom Toth, and we are volunteers, and community

         17  activists, and we work closely with the Parks

         18  Department. The Lower East Side Business Improvement

         19  District is our 501(c)(3) sponsor, and all of our

         20  records are open to the public.

         21                 There's not a lot of money that we

         22  have accumulated but we do get some grants and we

         23  get community support and support from the BID.

         24                 We volunteer in Seward Park

         25  playground, the oldest permanent municipal
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          2  playground in the United States, in the United

          3  States, which will be celebrating it's 100th

          4  anniversary this summer, and Seward Park evolved

          5  from the Outdoor Recreational League formed by

          6  Lillian Walden Charles B. Stover.

          7                 The historic lower east side was

          8  teeming with commerce, and it was much more

          9  overpopulated than it is now, believe it or not, and

         10  what was needed was a place for recreation.

         11                 The pushcarts were there, the stores

         12  were there, people needed a place to go to to just

         13  be, and today Seward Park is still a place for play,

         14  relaxation and athletics. Outdoor family events are

         15  held in the playground and they are free to the

         16  whole community. They're all free. Any food,

         17  beverage, prize, toy, game, art are donated or paid

         18  for by public grants and donations, and we are

         19  having an art show this summer in the garden,

         20  artists are invited to bring sculptures for the

         21  sculpture garden.

         22                 The community likes it that way. They

         23  like the freeness, they like the openness, they like

         24  what the park has become after a renovation, and

         25  even in the early 20th Century, Emma Goldman, the
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          2  newspaper workers from the Yiddish Daily, the

          3  Forward Newspaper workers, and other famous and

          4  every day people use the park to get away from it

          5  all.

          6                 Today restaurant workers, transit

          7  workers, nurses, teachers, et cetera, take their

          8  breaks while the kids cavort and seniors relax.

          9  Parents like a commerce-free zone occasionally,

         10  where their children can play and where the family

         11  is not bombarded to buy something.

         12                 It is important to protect open

         13  public spaces. The City of New York Parks and

         14  Recreation had a permit system which addressed, not

         15  perfectly, but it addressed the growing complexity

         16  of those issues.

         17                 The parks and the arts share combined

         18  and long history which will not end.

         19                 I would venture to guess that some of

         20  the challenges to the permit system haven't

         21  volunteered in City Park, or helped plant clean or

         22  perhaps teach inside the parks. As volunteers we are

         23  in favor of a permit system. We might add that

         24  sometimes in lieu of payment a public service

         25  commitment to the Parks Department can be employed
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          2  when a permit is granted. Parks cost money to run

          3  and it takes work to keep them in repair for the

          4  general population who have their civil rights, too.

          5                 No one should think that they can get

          6  a carte blanche commercial ride by using the Bill of

          7  Rights, which I hold dear in my heart, or any abuse

          8  of civil rights or laws as a cover to a free load

          9  from their ethical, social or fiscal

         10  responsibilities as a citizen in favor and being

         11  favored in front of other citizens that use the

         12  parks in the City of New York and the boroughs, five

         13  boroughs.

         14                 Thank you very much for all of you

         15  people that have hung in there. I love you artists,

         16  because I'm one of you, retired.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, Ms.

         18  Lakis.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, I just

         20  want to thank you, and gazuntite (phonetic), Mr.

         21  Chair. I just want to thank you, Ms. Lakis, on

         22  behalf of our district for devoting your retirement

         23  to your civic endeavors and in upkeeping Seward

         24  Park, which I know you do so well.

         25                 MS. LAKIS: Thank you.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So, thank you.

          3  Thank you very much.

          4                 Have there been, have you noticed an

          5  increasing issue with respect to commercial vendors

          6  lately in that park?

          7                 MS. LAKIS: Not particularly in that

          8  park, because the word hasn't gotten out yet.

          9  However, we have had issues with people not having

         10  permits and coming into the park to do things, and

         11  you have to understand there is a difference between

         12  a park and a playground.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Sure.

         14                 MS. LAKIS: And, so, a lot of things

         15  are just not family or children appropriate, this is

         16  classified by the Parks Department as a playground

         17  and always has been since 1897 when it was ORL, and

         18  it was bought by the City and taken as a parkland in

         19  1903. So this is the 100th year city anniversary for

         20  the oldest municipal playground in New York City.

         21  Fabulous trees, it's beautiful.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And fabulous

         23  volunteers. Again, thank you very much.

         24                 Let me just --

         25                 MS. GILBERT: Could I just add
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          2  something to what you just -- you asked a question

          3  about more vendors, I want to say Larry White said

          4  there was a crackdown on illegal vendors down in

          5  SoHo and that alleviated the problem, but when you

          6  do that in one area of the City, those illegal

          7  people move some place else.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Right.

          9                 MS. GILBERT: So you have to do

         10  something to crack down on the illegal people and

         11  leave the legal people. If you just crackdown on the

         12  illegal people, you wouldn't need permits, because

         13  there aren't that many illegal people, and if you

         14  just, legal artists, if you have a crackdown you

         15  have to do it across the City, otherwise that's when

         16  you cause congestion in one area.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That's a good

         18  point.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         20  much for the time and testimony and your patience

         21  today.

         22                 MS. GILBERT: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         24  much. Have a good evening.

         25                 Our next panel, Ching Yip. Is Ching
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          2  Yip here?

          3                 Paul Schubert. Is Paul Schubert here?

          4  I heard a yes. Paul, step up on down. Naoko Sumi. Is

          5  Naoko Sumi here? Is Andrew Comfort here? Andrew

          6  Comfort? Andrew.

          7                 Thank you very much. Please raise

          8  your right hand to be sworn in.

          9                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

         10  affirm to tell the truth?

         11                 (Witnesses sworn.)

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: State your name

         13  and give your testimony.

         14                 MR. COMFORT: You can go first. You're

         15  the female.

         16                 MS. YIP: My name is Ching Yip. Thank

         17  you very much, Councilman, Chairman, for the time

         18  and listening to our voice, I really appreciate it.

         19                 I'm an artist. I came from Hong Kong.

         20  I came to this country to pursue my artistic freedom

         21  based on my first amendment right.

         22                 Right now this government is trying

         23  to take away every New Yorkers freedom of speech.

         24  I'm here today in front of you asking this Council

         25  to defend our constitutional right. It is your
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          2  sacred duty to protect the freedom of speech for

          3  every New Yorker.

          4                 The street of New York City is not

          5  for sale to the highest bidder. We have already won

          6  our right in the highest court of New York. There is

          7  no legal grant for any license of permit.

          8                 Please do your duty right now and

          9  honor this country in its truest sense. Thank you

         10  very much. I appreciate this opportunity to voice my

         11  concern as an American.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you. State

         14  your name and testimony.

         15                 MR. COMFORT: My name is Andrew

         16  Comfort. I began selling photos on the street in New

         17  York this fall, and one of about ten photos I had

         18  out was of the Brooklyn Bridge, and I found that

         19  there was this community of people, New Yorkers, who

         20  absolutely love the bridge. They've filled their

         21  rooms with it and they've flipped for this photo I

         22  had taken. That sent me back to the bridge, took

         23  more photos, and they loved those, too.

         24                 One day a photographic historian came

         25  by, and he was looking at my photos of the Brooklyn
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          2  Bridge and he said I've studied this, no one has

          3  ever taken images like this before. I had a poet

          4  come by, look at my work and for five minutes, talk

          5  about all of the interconnections from picture to

          6  picture. Things I never even thought about. This was

          7  invigorating to me as an artist, to be on the street

          8  meeting these random people who were fueling what I

          9  was doing and really encouraging me in what I was

         10  doing. And it helped me. It gave me energy to

         11  continue being out there on the street. It wasn't

         12  just about making a buck or something, it was about

         13  doing my work and being excited about it and putting

         14  it out there.

         15                 It's also going out in other ways. I

         16  sell the photo. It goes down the street, there's a

         17  frame shop and a particular frameshop was framing

         18  many of my photos this fall. Finally the shop owner

         19  came and he said, who are you? What is this stuff? I

         20  want to represent you.

         21                 Now my photos are in his window

         22  drawing customers into his shop, generating revenue

         23  in the City that never would have happened had I not

         24  been there and met those people that had inspired me

         25  to go back and take even more pictures of the
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          2  Brooklyn Bridge.

          3                 Another woman came by. She was

          4  starting up a restaurant under the Brooklyn Bridge

          5  called "Five Front." She said, Andrew, can you make

          6  this image even bigger? I want this in my

          7  restaurant. Now it's there. Then just before the

          8  restaurants opened, she said, Andrew, I need that

          9  other image, can you show it to me. Okay. She put

         10  that up. Later I went and I talked to the manager of

         11  the restaurant. And the manager told me, sometimes

         12  there's people out on the sidewalk, I suppose

         13  causing congestion, looking in the window. And the

         14  manager goes out and says, are you having trouble

         15  seeing the menu? And they're saying, no, we're

         16  looking at this photo. Oh, come on in. Look at it.

         17  Oh, the same photographer did another one deeper in

         18  the store here. Check this out. And then they sit

         19  down and they have lunch in this restaurant.

         20                 That's part of the story of art just

         21  sort of bubbling off if the streets of New York.

         22                 When the Mayor says about the Cristo

         23  piece that it's important to reassert the daring and

         24  creative spirit of New York, I think that when my

         25  photos are purchased by tourists, when my photos are
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          2  purchased by citizens of New York who are sending

          3  them out to their friends and relatives in different

          4  parts of the country, in different parts of the

          5  world, just from the people I've spoken to, I know

          6  that my photos are in Stanford, Connecticut, they're

          7  all over New York, they're in Washington, D.C.,

          8  they're in Minneapolis, Denver, countries throughout

          9  -- cities throughout this country, they're in

         10  England, Italy, Switzerland, Norway, Australia and

         11  China. Every single one of my photos multiplied by

         12  all of the works of art by all of the artists over

         13  all of the years are installed on people's walls, in

         14  their homes, in their offices, all over, as a

         15  continuing testimony to the creative spirit of New

         16  York which I think will have a longer life in the

         17  minds of the people over the world, than the Cristo

         18  project itself.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, Mr.

         21  Comfort.

         22                 MR. COMFORT: Mr. Schubert.

         23                 MR. SCHUBERT: Good evening. I've been

         24  a vendor for approximately 18 years, okay? I was

         25  here before the African Plague arrived. Back then
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          2  alfa was called alfa because they rented a truck

          3  that had "alfa" on the side of it, okay? That's why

          4  they call it alfa, now they call it All Borough

          5  Peddler Task Force (sic). And I've been through,

          6  must be, under JJ Johnson, a new good senate,

          7  Donofrio, and one thing that I've noticed which is

          8  extremely unfair, I went to see Gretchen Dykstra

          9  earlier this week. I gave her a very fair vendor

         10  law, which I'm going to give you guys as well, 17

         11  pages. And I noticed that when I mentioned the idea

         12  of the Police Department who has to enforce the law,

         13  being asked to testify, being asked to give their

         14  input to a committee, or even in a private meeting

         15  of round-robin (sic), I believe that we, the

         16  vendors, and the Police Department, has to enforce

         17  it.

         18                 Now, the Parks Commissioner, he's

         19  mentioning of how he doesn't have the resources to

         20  enforce the law. What I find interesting is when

         21  President Clinton visited Battery Park and had that

         22  whole shindig down there, they decided to come down

         23  and clear out over 30 Africans who were working on a

         24  regular basis. Last Wednesday was not a very warm

         25  day, but I came in from the ferry from Jersey, and I
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          2  went to the park, I counted 27 people, and took

          3  pictures of them, my little digital camera, my

          4  printer is down, so otherwise I would have given you

          5  copies of it. And I've noticed in the summertime

          6  it's even worse. I had been demanding from the

          7  Police Commissioner, from the Borough Commander,

          8  from Inspector Wilke, why can't we put a permanent

          9  police enforcement presence in Battery Park, and get

         10  rid of this congestion. They are the ones causing

         11  the congestion, and have been. I was on Eighth

         12  Street, Sixth -- Eighth Street a few years ago when

         13  they had a -- when there was barely a three-foot

         14  space between the window, they had blankets and the

         15  sidewalk, wherever I go they purposely block the

         16  sidewalk, and I would like some people to attack the

         17  real problem.

         18                 This past Christmas season, due to

         19  our fine Commissioner, and his orders of no tickets,

         20  you take them, you take down, you take this stuff.

         21  And with the support of Consumer Affairs, Inspector

         22  Hutchinson, I can say for two years in a row,

         23  they've had the worst Christmas they've ever had.

         24  And if anything, the present laws are sufficient.

         25                 So, please, Mr. Parks Commissioner,
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          2  why don't you get your little parks guys to stop

          3  going up Columbus Avenue where there's a median

          4  strip which you've got trees on it, and then if

          5  you're set up across the street, you're within 350

          6  feet of a park, and they want to run you out of

          7  there, and I'm wondering, where are these park

          8  police? I don't see them in Battery Park, where

          9  there's thousands of tourists a day. Where are they?

         10                 I mean, you cannot enforce present

         11  law with present enforcement, then why are you

         12  adding more laws? That, to me, seems illogical.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, Mr.

         14  Schubert.

         15                 Any questions?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Yes, Mr.

         17  Comfort, as the Council member who represents the

         18  Manhattan side of the Brooklyn Bridge, I

         19  congratulate you on your subject matter and choice

         20  of subject matters and look forward to viewing your

         21  work, which I actually may have seen. I'll have to

         22  look closely.

         23                 Let me just ask you, where do you do

         24  your selling?

         25                 MR. COMFORT: It's a mix. I've been on
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          2  Wall Street, I've been in SoHo. I've been in --

          3  well, it's not really in front of the Met. I think I

          4  should clarify something there that hasn't been

          5  clarified. People aren't anywhere near the steps of

          6  the Met when they're selling. They're well removed

          7  from that. And, so, I think that gets to the point

          8  of just having zones of sale and particular hot

          9  spots, like this woman's map of Battery Park could

         10  just be turned off to art sales. Anyway, that aside,

         11  then also various places in Brooklyn.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 MR. COMFORT: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you,

         16  all.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Panel, thank you

         18  very much for your patience and your time and

         19  testimony today.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you.

         21                 MR. SCHUBERT: And thank you,

         22  gentlemen, for taking the time to hear it.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Pleasure. Have a

         24  good night. Get home safely.

         25                 Our next panel, Irene Smith. Irene,

                                                            275

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  okay. Scott Rogers. Scott Rogers. Jennifer Hensky.

          3  Jennifer Hensky? Come on down, Jennifer. And Tom

          4  Eccles. Tom Eccles. And Tsipi Ben-Haim, Director of

          5  Cityarts. Okay, Jean Silva. Jean Silva, Women

          6  Softball and Youth. And last but not least, Rosalie

          7  Shields. Okay, Rosalie.

          8                 Thank you for waiting. Please raise

          9  your right hand to be sworn in.

         10                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

         11  affirm to tell the truth?

         12                 (Witnesses sworn.)

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         14  much. Please state your name and given your

         15  testimony.

         16                 MS. SMITH: My name is Irene Smith. I

         17  am the Director of the Children's Gardening Project

         18  at Pleasant Village Community Gardens in East

         19  Harlem, and secretary of the Manhattan Parks and

         20  Greenspace Coalition.

         21                 Our co-chair is Annie Chadwick of the

         22  Clinton Community Garden and Jim Dowell of Riverside

         23  Park Fund, regret that they are unable to be present

         24  today.

         25                 The Manhattan Parks and Greenspace
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          2  Coalition represents greening groups in all ten of

          3  our borough City Council districts. The groups under

          4  our umbrella are large and small, including both

          5  community gardeners, and local parks. We are

          6  racially, ethnically and economically diverse. What

          7  we have in common is a deep commitment to our parks,

          8  community gardens and other greenspaces. We reflect

          9  the perspective of individuals who demonstrate their

         10  significant volunteerism and their personal

         11  financial support, that they are deeply committed to

         12  Manhattan's green spaces.

         13                 To us, keeping our parkland free from

         14  excessive or inappropriate commercial activity, is

         15  not just a desirable goal, rather it is essential to

         16  protect the distinctive quality of our greenspaces.

         17                 Simple put, unregulated sale of

         18  artwork clutters our parks and detracts from their

         19  important purpose of providing greatly needed urban

         20  green space for recreation and relaxation.

         21                 A fair and equitable process with a

         22  clearly defined appeal procedure would allow the

         23  sale of a regulated amount of artwork at acceptable

         24  places and times. Unlicensed commercial vending in

         25  our parks would be curtailed while artists would be
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          2  allowed to express themselves and bring their

          3  creations to the attention of the public.

          4                 Opponents of Intro. 160 site the

          5  First Amendment rights and free enterprise as

          6  inherent rights, but we have responsibilities as

          7  citizens, too, to contribute to an orderly society

          8  and to respect the rights of others. People have a

          9  right to go to their parks and enjoy their natural

         10  beauty without the distractions of excessive

         11  commercial enterprises, whatever their nature.

         12                 Intro. 160 is a reasonable attempt to

         13  protect both parkland, the rights of all citizens

         14  and First Amendment Rights, we urge its passage.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         17  much.

         18                 State your name and your testimony.

         19                 MS. SHIELDS: Rosalie Shields.

         20  Although I'm a member of Community Board 5, I'm

         21  really here today on my own behalf as a voter, and

         22  as a taxpayer and a citizen of this City.

         23                 I support Intro. 160. I view it as a

         24  public health and safety issue. Although many of the

         25  artists that spoke before you today have essentially
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          2  said that there's a great exaggeration about the

          3  congestion. I want to relay a few of my own personal

          4  experiences under oath to convey there's no

          5  exaggeration about what has been said.

          6                 Many times I have brought visitors to

          7  the City up to the Met and had to really traverse a

          8  gauntlet of a space, probably narrower than the

          9  tables in front of you to get past that section

         10  between 80th Street or 82nd Street down to 79th

         11  Street.

         12                 The artists exhibiting are not

         13  necessarily first come first serve because those

         14  that come late are set up in two tiers and three

         15  tiers, and there have been many days that their

         16  whole sidewalk is totally blocked with pedestrian

         17  traffic, and I've been forced to go into the street

         18  to get by that area.

         19                 Also, on Central Park South, it is

         20  very close to where I live, I want to relate what

         21  happened two or three days after our Christmas snow

         22  when the area at Central Park South, at the entrance

         23  at Sixth Avenue to the Park, was partly cleared by

         24  the City, but there was still a great expanse of

         25  ground that had been left iced over. The vendors
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          2  totally took over the space that had been cleared by

          3  the City for the pedestrians to walk, and the

          4  pedestrians were forced to go around them, get by

          5  that area, onto the slick, icy roads.

          6                 I think Intro. 160 is going to be a

          7  reasonable way to balance all of the rights, the

          8  rights of pedestrians and citizens of this City to

          9  get around this City on streets that are

         10  unencumbered by illegal vendors.

         11                 I don't know, frankly, what artistic

         12  right is being protected by the unregulated vending

         13  of mass produced copies of art. It seems to me that

         14  if anything, this sort of facilitates the violation

         15  of intellectual property rights. I think that this

         16  proposed regulation is going to go a long way to

         17  balancing all of the competing interests that we all

         18  suffer with in trying to survive on this small

         19  island.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, Ms.

         22  Shields.

         23                 MS. HENSLEY: Good evening. I'm

         24  Jennifer Hensley, Director of Intergovernmental and

         25  Community Affairs for the Downtown Alliance, Lower
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          2  Manhattan's Business Improvement District, and I'm

          3  here today to express our support for Intro. 160 and

          4  urge the Council to pass the legislation.

          5                 Open spaces in Lower Manhattan have

          6  become even more important to our communities since

          7  the tragic events of September 11th, 2001.

          8                 People are in need of these quiet

          9  places to reflect and to escape the bustle of

         10  downtown streets and the Ground Zero viewing area.

         11                 This legislation is an important

         12  first step toward addressing the critical question

         13  of vending throughout this City, and is an essential

         14  element of downtown's revitalization.

         15                 Lower Manhattan's limited supply of

         16  parkland and open space is comprised mainly of small

         17  plots, such as Hanover Square Park, Bowling Green

         18  and the Vietnam Veteran's Memorial Plaza.

         19                 Our district also includes historic

         20  Battery Park, which has long been a central fixture

         21  in our neighborhood and a respite for downtown

         22  residents, workers and tourists. It is by far the

         23  largest open space in Lower Manhattan, a

         24  neighborhood significantly underserved by open

         25  space. As a gateway to the Statue of Liberty and
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          2  Ellis Island, the home of historic Castle Clinton,

          3  and one of downtown's most inviting public event

          4  venues, historic Battery Park is an asset to our

          5  community. Now with the sphere from the World Trade

          6  Center on display, the park has seen even more

          7  visitors than ever.

          8                 Over the past several years, illegal

          9  and unregulated vending in and around the park and

         10  throughout the rest of Lower Manhattan, increasingly

         11  has become a public safety and environmental

         12  concern.

         13                 In and around the park, vendors crowd

         14  the pathways and instruct the flow of traffic,

         15  causing visitors to spill into the grass areas,

         16  damaging the lawns and flower beds and otherwise

         17  preventing free and safe pedestrian passage.

         18                 Also, the shear volume of vendors

         19  which can easily number up to 50 throughout the park

         20  and around its perimeter, creates an atmosphere of a

         21  bazaar, changing the nature of historic Battery Park

         22  and severely limiting the ability of downtown

         23  residents, workers and visitors to use and

         24  appreciate the park as a welcoming and relaxing

         25  public open space.
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          2                 We have some of these same public

          3  safety and general welfare concerns about the high

          4  numbers of vendors and other street obstructions

          5  located on Broadway and other downtown streets.

          6                 In light of these concerns, we

          7  recognize the success of other regulatory systems

          8  which seek to balance the protection of public

          9  enjoyment of the City's parks with individuals

         10  rights, including permitting systems that regulate

         11  amplification of sound and public assembly.

         12                 Under current regulations, groups or

         13  individuals seeking to amplify sound in or around a

         14  City park must secure a sound permit from the NYPD

         15  declaring the specific time, when and location where

         16  the amplification will take place. Such time place

         17  and manner restrictions consistent with the

         18  requirements of the First Amendment must be applied

         19  to the vending of written materials within and

         20  around the perimeter of parks to ensure that New

         21  Yorkers and visitors alike are able to safely and

         22  comfortably enjoy the City's limited open space.

         23                 This legislation is an important

         24  first step in addressing the larger issue of vending

         25  along City streets and sidewalks, and we urge you to
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          2  pass legislation.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

          4  much, Ms. Hensky.

          5                 MS. HENSKY: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Any questions?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, let me

          8  just thank all of the witnesses. Let me reiterate

          9  our appreciation to the Alliance for all of the work

         10  you do for downtown.

         11                 Do you have any sense, in terms of

         12  Battery, how much of the problem is outside on the

         13  perimeter and how much is inside, or we could pursue

         14  that elsewhere.

         15                 MS. HENSKY: Well, as Warrie testified

         16  to earlier, I think that those sort of wide open

         17  entranceways that are sort of half in the park and

         18  half out, you know --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: In and out.

         20                 MS. HENSKY: -- On the perimeter, is a

         21  really big concern, especially around the Bowling

         22  Green station, where all the traffic flows from

         23  Lower Broadway into the park.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: But the

         25  sellers tend to line up on the outskirts, but as you
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          2  go into --

          3                 MS. HENSKY: Right. In the park area,

          4  because there's sort of funnel --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Right, it's

          6  that funnel area.

          7                 MS. HENSKY: Right. I think they sort

          8  of tend to stay around there, and also I think the

          9  Parks Department would have information on that, as

         10  well.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you so

         14  much.

         15                 MS. HENSKY: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Get home safely.

         17                 And our last panel for the evening,

         18  Aleksandr Gleyzer Sitnikov. Aleksandr. Aisha

         19  Cousins. Roustam Nour. Roustam. I've got one more.

         20  Norbert Bissinger. Norbert? Okay, Norbert. This will

         21  be the last panel of the evening, and before we get

         22  started, I want to thank you all for being here.

         23  That's all. I want to thank you all for being here.

         24  It's a shame because in another five minutes you

         25  would have gotten a free set of knives.
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          2                 Anyway, but seriously, I want to

          3  thank you all. I want to thank the Sergeant-of-Arms

          4  who have been helping out today in making sure our

          5  witnesses get to their places, I want to thank the

          6  staff, Tom Curry, our legal counsel, and the staff

          7  for the Parks and Recreation Committee. I want to

          8  thank all who are here and those who are giving

          9  testimony today, and we've done a great job in

         10  opening dialogue on 160.

         11                 If you will please raise your right

         12  hand to be sworn in.

         13                 Do you swear or affirm to tell the

         14  truth?

         15                 (Witnesses sworn.)

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Please state

         17  your name and give your testimony. Do you want to

         18  flip a coin? There you go.

         19                 MR. BISSINGER: Norbert Bissinger. I

         20  am working in the parks, Flushing Meadow Park,

         21  Battery Park, Coney Island, Central Park, and at

         22  night on 42nd Street and on Broadway.

         23                 For about 20 years I got arrested

         24  roughly 40 to 50 times. All cases were dismissed in

         25  the court system. When I finally found out what the
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          2  issue was, I had to fight my lawyer to get a fair

          3  trial in the courts of this City. This was about

          4  five years ago, and the decision was I do not need a

          5  license, First Amendment Rights.

          6                 This was the first decision, to my

          7  knowledge, in the City, and that leads to the

          8  Lederman lawsuit and the Barry lawsuit.

          9                 Now, we have heard tonight about

         10  permits, licenses, lottery systems, and we have

         11  heard about Intro. 160. But all comes down to, if

         12  the contrary, what the founding fathers intended, no

         13  breaching of freedom of speech.

         14                 Any license requirement that's

         15  outside, many who do not qualify for the

         16  requirements of a license. License and permits are

         17  interchangeable. In the courts they are treated

         18  equal. Lottery systems we all know, there are

         19  winners and there are more losers.

         20                 The losers have totally lost their

         21  rights for their freedom of expression. That lead

         22  necessarily to many, many lawsuits.

         23                 Now, we have heard about original

         24  artists and we have not heard that the courts have

         25  always ruled selling of protected -- speech is also
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          2  protected. Meaning, an artist who sells somebody

          3  else's artwork is allowed to do so.

          4                 Now, what is legitimate artwork?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Mr. Bissinger,

          6  I'm going to ask you, just if you can, just to sum

          7  up, please.

          8                 MR. BISSINGER: Well, I want to ask

          9  the City Council to not make a big mistake to vote

         10  in favor of Intro. 160.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, Mr.

         12  Bissinger. Thank you.

         13                 Next, please state your name.

         14                 MS. COUSINS: My name is Aisha

         15  Cousins. I have a written statement, but I also

         16  wanted to say that I'm in favor of parks green

         17  space, I think it's good for your mental health to

         18  have space, but it's a big country, and this

         19  particular city is known for its tourism, you know?

         20  There are places where you can live where you can

         21  have a back yard as big as this whole space, but

         22  those of us who choose to live here have to accept

         23  as a part of the tourism that there's going to be

         24  some congestion. It's part of what makes the

         25  economy.

                                                            288

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 My statement is, around the time of

          3  September 11th, I was unemployed from June of 2001

          4  through June 2002, and that's one year. I temped,

          5  which brought in about $1,000. I sold to two

          6  galleries, that brought in $50, unfortunately. And I

          7  also vended, because I couldn't get any more temping

          8  jobs after the 11th, and over the course of about 12

          9  months I made about $3,000, which isn't, it's not a

         10  lot of money, but it enabled me to pay my rent, you

         11  know? Right now I'm fortunate to be employed on a

         12  contract that is unfortunately going to end around

         13  February 28th, so after that I may or may not have a

         14  job.

         15                 And my point is that times are really

         16  hard right now, you know, people need money, and

         17  with the system that's being proposed, it's going to

         18  make people wait, and I really don't have time to

         19  wait, I need to be able to vend at will, and a lot

         20  of other people in the City need to be able to.

         21                 That said, 42nd Street is congested,

         22  but it's allowed, because it brings in income for

         23  people who live in the City. It's extremely

         24  congested, like I said. Vendors aren't rich people,

         25  we don't really make that much money, but we do make
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          2  up a large percentage of the people that live in the

          3  City, and unrestricted vending allows us to pay our

          4  rent and other living expenses on time.

          5                 And, now, imagine, if you will, all

          6  the people you know who make a little extra income,

          7  or their whole income, through vending or selling

          8  art, suddenly not being able to vend like they used

          9  to because of the new regulations.

         10                 While it is true that on one hand

         11  limiting permits would mean order to the parks, the

         12  ripple effect of the lost of income would be very

         13  detrimental. You're talking about landlords, utility

         14  companies, the transportation authority, and not to

         15  mention smaller service providers, such as grocery

         16  stores, gas stations, laundromats, all businesses

         17  owned by other New Yorkers who depend on income that

         18  comes in from people who make a living selling art

         19  and vending, you know?

         20                 Secondly, unrestricted vending makes

         21  up a large part of the tourist image of the City.

         22  People, New York has a widely, a very specific and

         23  widely publicized history of being a breeding ground

         24  for street artists who eventually become famous. And

         25  it's sort of a myth, but think of, for example, Jean
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          2  Nacorbasket (phonetic), two movies have been made

          3  about him in the past five years, and also Amkief

          4  Heering (phonetic), both of whom started out on the

          5  street as street vendors and eventually became

          6  famous. Now, when people come here as tourists, they

          7  don't just come for the museums, they come because

          8  they want that experience that they've seen in TV or

          9  on the movies, and they want to see a city teeming

         10  with street artists and park artists, you know,

         11  that's what they want. And they want to be able to

         12  buy a piece of our industry and take it home, and

         13  whether it's true or not to say, I bought this

         14  picture by this person and one day they're going to

         15  be famous, watch, you know?

         16                 So, keep in mind also that art buyers

         17  are not, they're not your average people with

         18  income, like they're not your average tourists.

         19  These are people who come here specifically to buy

         20  art, and it's kind of a dream and it plays into it,

         21  but they don't just spend on art. These are people

         22  again with substantial income, they're not like a

         23  person who comes in and spends $20 at the Empire

         24  State Building or something. These are people who

         25  spend 100 to 1,000 dollars on a single luxury
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          2  purchase, you see what I'm saying? These are the

          3  people who stay in four and five star hotels. These

          4  are the people who spend the same amount of money on

          5  restaurants, travel and other tourist attractions,

          6  and you don't want -- they come in part because they

          7  want to buy the art cheap on the street, it's part

          8  of their dream, they come here and whether it's true

          9  or not they kind of play into the fantasy and we

         10  help, and you don't want to send them or their money

         11  to other tourist destinations where there is art

         12  unrestricted, such as Paris or London or even other

         13  cities where the art vending regulations are less

         14  strict.

         15                 So, again, to summarize, this law fix

         16  vendors who make a regular contribution to the City,

         17  through rent, you know, and so on, monthly, and then

         18  it also affects transient income from visitors,

         19  particularly high-end tourists who maintain -- I

         20  mean, whose money again makes substantial

         21  contribution to the City's income.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, Ms.

         23  Cousins.

         24                 Please state your name and give your

         25  testimony.
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          2                 MR. NOUR: Good evening. My name is

          3  Roustam Nour, and I'm a recent immigrant from the

          4  former Soviet Union. I was born and raised in

          5  Russian federation. After graduating from the

          6  Teachers College School of Fine Arts, I continued my

          7  studies at the Moscow State Technological

          8  University.

          9                 I taught fine arts and mechanical

         10  drawing for three years and also served in the

         11  Soviet Army for two.

         12                 When I moved to New York in the early

         13  nineties, I hardly spoke any English. However, I

         14  came to this country with the intent and ability to

         15  express myself through art, which is an

         16  international language.

         17                 I began to sell my paintings and

         18  bring some after my arrival here. It was surprising

         19  that the little English I spoke was good enough to

         20  make a start. However, I did not know at that time

         21  that street artists were being arrested.

         22                 During the period from 1993 to 1996,

         23  I was arrested approximately 30 times. My other work

         24  was thrown in garbage bags by the arresting members

         25  of the New York, New York's finest, and never it
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          2  dawned on me I might have been discouraged by all

          3  this, however, I knew that this was the only way to

          4  express myself in the beauty I found in New York's

          5  form and spirit.

          6                 At the time I felt getting stronger

          7  about my art, especially within the framework of the

          8  First Amendment. After the federal court ruled that

          9  in the Barry case in 1996 my business flourished.

         10                 In the process I am able to provide

         11  many people with employment opportunities, as well.

         12                 At this point in time I'm preparing

         13  to paint the twin towers with an attempt to help the

         14  symbol of freedom and power of democracy. These will

         15  be presented to the public opinion through the good

         16  offices of President Bush, Governor Pataki and Mayor

         17  Bloomberg, Senator Schumer and Clinton, as well as

         18  the media.

         19                 Even when the day comes when I am

         20  completely off the street, it is my sincere wish

         21  that no artist will have to endure the humiliation

         22  that I suffered in order to become a success that I

         23  am today.

         24                 Thank you for your attention, and

         25  thank you, America.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, Mr.

          3  Nour.

          4                 MR. GLEYZER: My name is Aleksandr

          5  Gleyzer, I am photographer, and English language is

          6  my second language, so excuse me if my pronunciation

          7  is not so good. But I also came from Russia, as used

          8  to be a communist country, as I think many of you

          9  know about, and in my country people had no freedom

         10  at all. We could not speak, we could not express

         11  ourself, we could not think, and people were

         12  interested just to hear the Beatles. So, that's why

         13  many Russians, and I believe other people came here

         14  to be free, and the United States was like a symbol

         15  of freedom for many of Russians, and I have many

         16  friends, artists, photographers and other people who

         17  came here just to be themself, just to be free.

         18  That's why I came here.

         19                 And the history of my country says

         20  the freedom cannot be like 50 percent of freedom or

         21  70 percent. If soon you start to regulate freedom of

         22  speech, freedom of self-expression, this is not

         23  freedom anymore.

         24                 And I was working in front of

         25  Metropolitan Museum when was permit system and I
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          2  still work there now, and I was lucky to have a

          3  permit like seven times for 11 months, but the

          4  friend of mine, he got just one for six months and

          5  my question is, does it mean the person has his

          6  right to express himself one time, one month for

          7  half a year, or I think it means, this is not really

          8  freedom of self-expression anymore, and I think --

          9  by the way, the Commissioner didn't answer when

         10  someone asked him how many permits the park will

         11  give artists. Because this is a really important

         12  thing, I think, because I was in San Francisco by

         13  the chance in June, and I spoke with a person who

         14  was selling his art in San Francisco. San Francisco

         15  really has a permit system, but they give one-year

         16  permit for artists who sell their work and all

         17  artists who apply, they could get a permit.

         18                 So, this is really big difference, I

         19  think. Because the park tends to regulate not only

         20  the time, place and manner to sell, but also the

         21  quantity of people who can sell their work.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         23  much.

         24                 I want to thank you all for your time

         25  and testimony today, and your patience, as well.
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          2  Thank you very much, and get home safely.

          3                 Ladies and gentlemen, again, thank

          4  you very much. If you want to keep up today with the

          5  fate of 160, by all means do not attempt to give the

          6  City Council here, the Parks and Recreation

          7  Committee a call, and we will give you the latest

          8  update, and we'll keep you in tune, and keep you in

          9  mind for future hearings as well.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Mr. Chair,

         11  thank you for conducting an outstanding hearing.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: My pleasure. I

         13  want to thank Council Member Alan Gerson for hanging

         14  in there. Get home safely everyone. Meeting

         15  adjourned.

         16                 (The following written testimony was

         17  read into the record.)

         18

         19

         20  Written Testimony Of:

         21  Eric Uhlfelder

         22  24 Jane Street. 3A

         23  New York, NY 10014

         24

         25  Impact of Legislation on Street Rules.
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          2  May loose (sic) the right to sell

          3  Need to have an accurate assessment of congestion-

          4  not subjective.

          5

          6  Testimony in front of City Council

          7  Intro 160.

          8

          9                 I am a financial writer. I make part

         10  of my living writing for various financial

         11  publications, including Financial Times and

         12  Businessweek. I have even written a book for

         13  Bloomberg on Investing in the New Europe.

         14                 But my other passion is photography.

         15  I have had successful shows at cultural

         16  institutions. My work is in two major municipal

         17  collections in Paris. And I'm probably the only

         18  photographer whose work is in a Venetian gallery.

         19                 But in NY, galleries and museums have

         20  no interest in my work. It's traditional, classical

         21  fine-art photography. My work celebrates the beauty

         22  of urban form. Because I don't shoot portraits of

         23  famous people, or focus on human suffering, or shoot

         24  obscene subjects that provoke - my work isn't

         25  accepted.
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          2                 Having my work displayed in public

          3  has enabled me to enrich my life and the lives of

          4  thousands who simply see it, and the dozens that buy

          5  it. Nothing else I can do comes close to the

          6  benefits I am able to receive by freely displaying

          7  my work.

          8                 The few pieces I show are for display

          9  only. My interest is to develop clients.

         10                 I am deeply aware of the privilege of

         11  having such an extraordinary venue, and am always

         12  respectful of the interests of pedestrians and

         13  shopowners.

         14                 I collect taxes from my sales, a

         15  responsibility I gladly undertake as a means of

         16  giving back to the city for having afforded me the

         17  opportunity of selling here.

         18                 But there's a more troubling aspect

         19  of the bill you are considering. As I understand the

         20  matter, the courts have already stated unequivocally

         21  that artists have a protected right to display their

         22  work in public, without review or regulations that

         23  go beyond normal concerns for public safety. You

         24  know these rulings, which the US Supreme Court has

         25  upheld. But if you pass this legislation, you will
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          2  be blatantly ignoring our judicial process, betting

          3  that we will not have the will nor the money to

          4  fight you again, and that would be more disgraceful

          5  than any display of art could ever be.

          6

          7

          8  Written Testimony Of:

          9  Andrew M. Manshel

         10  Chair

         11  Streetscape Committee of the Municipal Art Society

         12

         13  New York City Council Parks Committee

         14  January 27, 2003

         15  In support of Intro. 160

         16

         17                 Mr. Chairman, members of the

         18  Committee, my name is Andrew M. Manshel. I am here

         19  as the Chair of the Streetscape Committee of the

         20  Municipal Art Society. I am the Vice President of

         21  Barnard College and am also an attorney, until

         22  recently in private practice. Earlier in my career,

         23  I was involved in the creation of the public art

         24  program in Bryant Park and had extensive experience

         25  in attempting to balance the competing commercial
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          2  and non-commercial uses of public space.

          3                 I want to thank you for this

          4  opportunity to speak to you in support of Intro.

          5  160, which will enable the Parks Department to

          6  regulate the sale of written material in New York

          7  City Parks. We commend the department for proposing

          8  this legislation, just as we enthusiastically

          9  support Commissioner Benepe's outstanding attempts

         10  to increase the non-commercial display of art in our

         11  Parks.

         12                 At the outset, it is interesting to

         13  note that the MAS was founded at the beginning of

         14  the 20th Century to advocate for the limitation of

         15  commercial activity in New York City parks. At that

         16  time, the City allowed a wide range of billboards,

         17  and other commercial advertising in its parks, and

         18  MAS was successful in persuading city government to

         19  control and limit that activity. At the same time,

         20  MAS has long been an advocate of art in public

         21  places, and has been a staunch advocate of the arts

         22  and design in general. I would suggest that this

         23  makes the Society ideally well suited to speak to

         24  you today on the proper balance between commercial

         25  activity in parks and the value of having artists be
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          2  able to express themselves in public places.

          3                 The issue here before you today is

          4  one of the regulation of commercial activity. We are

          5  not talking about preventing artists from simply

          6  displaying their art in public spaces or engaging in

          7  pure self-expression. What this bill will enable the

          8  Parks Department to do is to limit the number of

          9  individuals who can sell stuff in Parks. As the

         10  representatives of the Parks Department have

         11  testified, in the absence of the ability to regulate

         12  this kind of commercial activity, some areas in city

         13  parks have been inundated without commercial

         14  activity, claiming first amendment protection. Of

         15  course, under our constitutional guarantees, the

         16  City may not generally distinguish among different

         17  kinds or qualities of speech in public spaces on the

         18  basis of content. But it can and should be able to

         19  limit the ability of private individuals to profit

         20  from commercial activity on its property.

         21                 The results of the current lack of a

         22  regulatory structure for this activity has become

         23  obvious - a serious degradation of the quality of

         24  experience for the average person. Anyone who has

         25  made it through the obstacle course of tables

                                                            302

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  selling commercial prints and photographs on their

          3  way to the Metropolitan Museum on a weekend

          4  afternoon can testify to this. And while the City is

          5  unable to constitutionally make content based

          6  restrictions on art, we can recognize that what we

          7  are talking about here isn't primarily about isn't

          8  the rights of artists to engage in their art, but

          9  really the ability of those engaged in profit-making

         10  activities in public spaces - the selling of what I

         11  believe might have been called by my grandmother

         12  tchoskes. The practical effect of this legislation

         13  will be for the most part to restrict invasive and

         14  intrusive commercial activity, which benefits

         15  individuals engaged in commerce, rather than

         16  individuals engaged in the production of art. In

         17  drafting regulations under this new legislation, we

         18  would urge the Parks Department to avoid getting

         19  involved in deciding among the various kinds of

         20  products, some of which may even have some artistic

         21  value. That's not an appropriate role for City

         22  government. The Department should simply regulate

         23  and limit selling stuff in Parks, just as it

         24  regulates the sale of hot dogs, t-shirts, carousel

         25  rides and pretzels. We applaud the Parks
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          2  Department's efforts in bringing this essentially

          3  commercial activity under control and urge your

          4  support. Again my thanks for allowing me to testify

          5  this afternoon.

          6

          7

          8  Written Testimony Of:

          9  Kenneth Adams

         10  President

         11  Brooklyn Chamber of Commerce

         12

         13                 Good afternoon, I am Kenneth Adams,

         14  President of the Brooklyn Chamber of Commerce, a

         15  business assistance and economic development

         16  organization with over 1,200 members.

         17                 The mission of the Brooklyn Chamber

         18  is to help businesses grow and to promote the

         19  economic development of Brooklyn. To that end, the

         20  Brooklyn Chamber advocates for projects that create

         21  jobs and stimulate investment in the borough's

         22  economy.

         23                 I am here today to voice the Brooklyn

         24  Chamber's support of Intro. 160 to restore the

         25  authority of the Parks Commissioner to regulate
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          2  vending on parkland.

          3                 The City of New York Parks and

          4  Recreation Department issues permits for the use of

          5  land in order to preserve the freedoms of park

          6  visitors, to keep the competition fair and peaceful

          7  between various park uses and users, and to promote

          8  public safety and well-being.

          9                 The courts and legislature have gone

         10  to great lengths to define and protect parkland as

         11  public space for recreation and relaxation - not

         12  areas to be encroached on by excessive or

         13  inappropriate commercial activity.

         14                 This bill will not restrict

         15  constitutional rights. The sale or display of

         16  written matter on park property would still be

         17  allowed.

         18                 The vending would simply be subject

         19  to reasonable time, place and manner restrictions,

         20  as many related First Amendment activities already

         21  are (i.e. permit requirements for protests and

         22  parades.)

         23                 The Brooklyn Chamber of Commerce

         24  urges the Parks and Recreation Committee and the New

         25  York City Council to pass Intro. 160 to restore the
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          2  Park Commissioner's ability to regulate vending on

          3  parkland as was intended under the General Vending

          4  Law passed by the City Council in 1982.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 6:58 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 27th day of January 2003.
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         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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